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Introduction


800
weird and often grisly facts about the bizarre and gruesome history of
serial killers. Facts on the background of killers, their eating habits
and last meals, strange habits, unusual crimes and other pieces of
fascinating trivia about them.  Read on if you dare!


800 Weird But True Serial Killer Facts


(1)
During his time in Germany serving in the British Army, Dennis Nilsen
got to know a fellow soldier named Leslie Grantham - who was in the
same regiment. Grantham would later become an actor and play 'Dirty'
Den Watts in the BBC soap opera Eastenders.

(2) Ahmad Suradji
was born in Medan, Indonesia in 1952. Suradji was found to have killed
42 girls and young women on a sugarcane plantation near his home.
Suradji considered himself to be a mystical shaman and killed the women
as part of a black magic ritual. He buried them up to their heads in
the ground, collected their saliva (which he believed gave him magic
powers), and then strangled the victims but left them buried with their
heads pointing at his house because he believed this ritual gave him
extra power. The whole idea for this had apparently come in a message
delivered by his late father in a dream. Yes, it's probably safe to say
that Ahmad Suradji was absolutely insane. Ahmad Suradji was sentenced
to death and executed on 10 July 2008. His alleged mystical powers
proved to be pretty useless in front of a firing squad. 

(3)
The Smiley face murder theory was proposed by retired New York City
detectives Kevin Gannon and Anthony Duarte. They were supported by the
crime academic Dr Lee Gilbertson. Their theory was that a large number
of supposedly accidental drownings of young men in several Midwestern
American states were not accidents at all but the work of a serial
killer or even a group of killers. Their evidence for this was that the
drowning victims commonly fit into a specific category in that they
were male, young, students, and good looking. Gannon and Duarte noted
that a number of victims showed tiny traces of a date rape drug. They
also noted that in many areas where these victims drowned there was
graffiti of a smiley face. They argued that this was the calling card
or signature of the killer. The two retired detectives argued that many
drownings were the result of rape, murder and being deliberately pushed
in a river or lake. Kevin Gannon and Anthony Duarte believe that over
forty drownings of young men dating back to the 1990s can be slotted
into their serial killer theory. The police in the United States
believe that the culprit in these deaths is alcohol. They point out
that in many of these drowning cases smiley face graffiti wasn't even
found near the scene anyway. They also pointed out that a smiley face
is not exactly uncommon when it comes to graffiti so even if it were
present in the immediate vicinity of a drowning it doesn't necessarily
have to have any dark or chilling subtext in relation to a tragic death
which occurred there. 

(4) Ted Bundy was said to receive 200 letters a day from female 'groupies' while he was awaiting his last trials.

(5)
Reginald Oates is an American killer who killed four young boys within
the span of two days in April 1968, in Baltimore, Maryland. Oates had
sex with the bodies of the victims after their death. When he was
captured he had body parts (including genitals) from the murdered
victims in a bag. Oates was deemed too insane to stand trial and sent
to the Clifton T. Perkins State Hospital in Jessup. 
 
(6)
Özgür Dengiz was a Turkish killer who killed two people and attempted
to kill another. His crimes took place from 1997 to 2007. When he was
captured, Dengiz was found to have human flesh in his fridge. Dengiz
said he liked human flesh so much he would even eat it raw.

(7) Jeffrey Dahmer was employed at Ambrosia Chocolate Factory in Milwaukee. Dahmer worked the night shift for $8.75 an hour.

(8)
One of the victims of Fred and Rose West was Lucy Katherine Partington.
Lucy, a student at Exeter University, was the cousin of the writer
Martin Amis. 

(9) Paula Clennell, one of the victims of The
Suffolk Strangler, was interviewed on the television news two weeks
before she was murdered. Paula, a prostitute, was asked why she was
still on the street when there was a serial killer targeting sex
workers in the area. She said she had no choice because she needed the
money. 

(10) A murderer named James Edward Smith once requested
a lump of dirt as his last meal on death row because he wanted to
perform a black magic ritual with the soil. His request was declined.
In case you were wondering, he ended up having some yogurt as his last
meal - which was a rather odd selection. Who would choose yogurt as
their last meal? 

(11) Ted Bundy once worked as the Assistant
Director of the Seattle Crime Prevention Advisory Commission. As part
of his duties there he wrote a pamphlet for women advising them on rape
prevention. 

(12) You can buy an Albert Fish action figure (this charming item has Fish brandishing a meat cleaver behind his back).

(13)
Frank Spisak was a lunatic with a Hitler toothbrush moustache who
committed three racially motivated murders in Cleveland in 1982. He was
a transvestite who wanted to have a sex change operation but then
changed his mind. He no longer wanted to become a woman anymore. He NOW
wanted to become Adolf Hitler. Spisak was given a death sentence and
finally executed by lethal injection in Ohio in 2011. Spisak hadn't
done himself too many favours in court by giving the Nazi salute each
time he entered. Frank Spisak went for a fairly modest and simple last
meal on death row. He had spaghetti in a light tomato sauce. It is
probably no coincidence at all that this is the last thing Hitler ever
ate too.

(14) After his death there was a battle for custody of
Jeffrey Dahmer's brain between his parents. Dahmer's mother wanted his
brain to be donated to science because this was what Jeffrey Dahmer had
apparently requested. Dahmer's father didn't want this to happen
though. In the end Dahmer's father got his way and Jeffrey Dahmer's
brain was cremated along with the rest of him. 

(15) The
Ratcliff Highway murders were murders which took place over less than
two weeks in Wapping in 1811. There were two multiple attacks which
left seven victims. The first attack took place in the shop of the Marr
family. The victims were Timothy Marr, a 24-year-old linen draper and
hosier, his wife Celia, their 3-month-old son Timothy, and James Gowan,
their shop boy. The infant had had his throat cut in his crib while the
others had been beaten with a hammer. It was a truly horrific scene.
One person from the household who survived the attack was a servant
girl who had been fortunate enough to be out buying oysters when the
killer struck. The errand to purchase oysters had saved her life. 

(16) The Crime Through Time museum in Gloucestershire is home to a shovel that belonged to Fred West. 

(17)
Daniel Camargo Barbosa was born in Columbia in 1930. He is believed to
have raped and murdered well over one hundred young girls. In 1994, the
67 year-old Daniel Camargo Barbosa was stabbed to death in prison by
Geovanny Noguera. Noguera was a relative of one of Barbosa's victims
and took his chance to extract revenge for the family.

(18)
Nikolai Espolovich Dzhumagaliev was a Soviet serial killer who was
convicted of seven murders committed from 1979 to 1980. He is known as
Kolya the Maneater because he ate the flesh of some of his victims. Of
his first murder, Dzhumagaliev told the police - "I cut the corpse's
breast into strips, removed the ovaries, and separated the pelvis and
hips; I then put these pieces into a backpack and carried them home. I
melted the fat to fry with, and some parts I pickled. Once, I put the
parts through a meat grinder and made dumplings. I saved the meat for
myself; I never served it to anyone else. Twice, I grilled parts—the
heart and the kidneys. Grilled meat, too. But it was tough, and I had
to cook it for a long time in its own fat. The meat of this woman took
me a month to eat. The first time I ate human flesh, I had to force
myself, but then I got used to it."

(19) Fred West used to drive an ice cream van as a young man. 

(20)
When the police arrested Peter Sutcliffe on suspicion of being The
Yorkshire Ripper, they noticed, upon inspection, that under his
trousers Sutcliffe seemed to be secretly wearing a pullover on his legs
with the padded elbows covering his knees. Sutcliffe spent a lot of
time kneeling over victims outside so had come up with this bizarre
fashion piece to protect his knees from getting grazed. 

(21)
Vlado Taneski was a Macedonian serial killer who brutally raped and
murdered three women from 2005 to 2008. The odd thing about this case
is that Taneski was a journalist
who had actually written articles about the murders!

(22)
Herbert Mullin was born in Salinas, California, in 1947. Mullin had
paranoid schizophrenia and believed that he had to murder people as
part of a blood sacrifice to prevent earthquakes from happening in
California. He ended up killing thirteen people. 

(23) In 2010,
Colonel Russell Williams was apprehended in connection to two murders.
Williams commanded CFB Trenton, Canada's largest military airbase.
Although a decorated and respected officer and pilot, he had a secret
life as a prowler and rapist who broke into homes to steal female
underwear and - eventually - kill.

(24) The Flat-Tire murders
were five connected, unsolved murders in Dade County, Florida in 1975.
The killer in the Flat-Tire murders is believed to have let air out of
his victims cars and then offered them assistance on the road before
killing them. These were brutal murders (some of the victims were
injured so badly they couldn't be identified) and the killer was
clearly very cunning. Ted Bundy is sometimes cited as a possible
suspect in the Flat-Tire murders although he denied this accusation. 

(25)
Harold Shipman (the GP who killed hundreds of his own patients)
appeared on the British documentary television show World in Action in
1982 talking about new treatments for the mentally ill. You'd never
guess in a million years that the placid Shipman was a serial killer
from watching his appearance in this documentary. 

(26) When he
briefly worked in a sandwich shop in Miami, Jeffrey Dahmer once found a
dead body in the alley out the back of the shop. This was a rare case
of a dead body in Dahmer's life that he had nothing to do with! 

(27)
Gordon Frederick Cummins was a killer who became known as The Blackout
Ripper for murdering four women during the German bombing raids on
London in World War 2. Cummins, who was in the Royal Air Force, was a
very sick and savage killer. He slashed one woman's throat with a can
opener and would sexually mutilate the victims. Cummins was hanged in
Wandsworth Prison in 1942. The crimes of the 'Blackout Ripper' during
World War 2 were suppressed by the authorities because Londoners
already had enough to worry about with the Luftwaffe bombing them. They
didn't need a serial killer panic thrown in too. 

(28) A set of cutlery belonging to Jeffrey Dahmer sold for $300 per item in 2022.

(29)
The Atlanta Ripper was a killer who is believed to have killed around
fifteen (and probably) more women in Atlanta in 1911 and 1912. However,
this killer was never captured or identified. All the victims were
young black women and the killer had a grisly habit of slashing the
throats of his targets. The killer had a rather strange habit too of
removing the clothes of the victim and then stacking them in a neat
bundle next to the body. Emma Lou Sharp, who survived an encounter with
the killer, described him as a tall dark skinned man who wore a black
hat. The killer was very brutal. One victim was nearly decapitated and
another had part of her skull crushed. A coupling pin from a train was
used to bludgeon one victim. It is said that the Ripper cut the heart
out of another victim and left it by the body.

(30) Dennis
Nilsen liked to write poetry and campaigned in prison to get his poetry
published. In a strange quirk of fate, Nilsen had dealings with a
probation officer in Wakefield Prison named Simon Armitage. Armitage
later became the poet laureate.

(31) Thomas J. Grasso was born
in 1962. Grasso was a thief and killer - and a ruthless and heartless
one too as Grasso tended to choose elderly and vulnerable people as
victims. Grasso was eventually was killed by lethal injection in 1995.
Grasso requested a can of Spaghetti-Os as part of his last meal on
death row. However, the prison authorities failed to supply a can of
Spaghetti-Os and gave him some spaghetti instead. Grasso was rather
annoyed by this mix-up. As he headed towards his imminent date with a
lethal injection his last ever words on planet Earth were - "I did not
get my Spaghetti-Os, I got spaghetti! I want the press to know this!"
Still fuming at being denied a can of Spaghetti-Os, Thomas J. Grasso
was finally executed. 

(32) One of the things that helped
convict the Golden State Killer was the surviving victims all
testifying that he had small genitalia. 

(33) Andrei Chikatilo
killed over 50 people (mostly children) in Ukraine from 1978 to 1990.
Believe it or not, Chikatilo worked as a teacher in the early 1970s. 

(34)
Joel Rifkin was a Long Island based serial killer who was convicted in
1993 for nine murders. Rifkin targeted sex workers and was especially
gruesome in the fashion in which he left his victims. He once left the
decapitated head of one victim on a golf course.
  
(35)
Zhang Yongming was a Chinese serial killer responsible for at least
eleven murders from 2008 to 2012. He sold the flesh of his victims at a
local market and pretended it was ostrich meat. When he was arrested,
the police found that Yongming had preserved human eyeballs in jars.
The flesh of his victims was hanging up to dry.

(36) Jeffrey
Dahmer's name has thirteen letters. His murder spree lasted for
thirteen years. Guess what his apartment number was? That's right.
Number 13. 

(37) About 3% of executions in the United States
have gone wrong in some way. Mishaps have included people catching fire
in the electric chair and decapitations during hanging. 

(38) Ted Bundy once saved a toddler from drowning. This happened at Green Lake in Seattle in 1970.

(39)
The youngest serial killer is usually cited as Amardeep Sada. Amardeep
Sada killed three people in India when he was eight years-old. The
victims were all children and included Sada's sister. 

(40) When he was captured, Richard Chase said he killed to protect himself from aliens and that the Nazis had framed him.

(41) The last public execution held in the United States was in 1936. They used to get good crowds at public hangings. 

(42) The Japanese killer Tsutomu Miyazaki once cut off the hands of a victim and drank the blood from them.

(43)
In 2009 a serial killer named The Phantom of Heilbronn was linked to
several murders and many crimes. However, it turned out contaminated
DNA swabs had been confused and that in reality there was no Phantom of
Heilbronn serial killer at all.

(44) John E. Robinson has been
dubbed the first ever Internet serial killer. Robinson's victims were
women he had made contact with through online chatrooms.

(45)
Charlie Chop-off was the name given to a serial killer who murdered
three black children and one Puerto Rican child in New York in 1972 and
1973. All the victims were male. the killer got his name because he had
a habit of removing the genitals and taking them away as a memento.
While three of the murders and one attack attributed to Charlie
Chop-off remain officially 'unsolved', it seems more than likely that
Erno Soto was the killer. It doesn't appear to be a coincidence either
that the murders came to an abrupt halt once Soto was in custody. 

(46)
Fritz Haarmann was born in Hanover on 25 October 1879. This German
serial killer murdered over twenty people and became known as the
Vampire of Hanover. Haarmann was undone by his habit of dumping the
remains of his victims in the Leine River. Some of the grisly remains
washed ashore and the police decided to drag the river to see what else
might be down there. They found over 500 human bones - which were
estimated to come from 22 different victims. The police, knowing of
Haarmann's criminal history, put him under surveillance and saw him
approaching youths at Hanover Station. When the police searched
Haarmann's home, the signs of blood stains were obvious and apparent. 

(47) Soilex, which Jeffrey Dahmer used to boil heads, is more commonly used to remove wallpaper.

(48)
Dr Eric Hickey, professor of forensic psychology at Walden University,
estimated that around only around five to ten out of every two thousand
serial killers are cannibals. It is very rare for serial killers to eat
the flesh of their victims. This fact makes the known cannibal serial
killers all the more infamous

(49) Sachiko Eto was born in Japan
in 1947. She is known as The Drumstick Killer and her case is strange
to say the least. She was apparently married as a young women but in
later years got involved in a bogus religious group. Eto set herself up
as a guru in Sukagawa City and had a number of followers (which
included her daughter). Although she liked to think of herself as a
great religious mystic she was essentially a cult leader who espoused
meaningless mumbo jumbo. Sachiko Eto claimed to have psychic and
supernatural powers but the only superpower she actually possessed was
the ability to attract gullible and vulnerable people into her cult.
Sachiko Eto persuaded her followers that they were infested with demons
and that the only way to remove these demons was a beating with taiko
sticks (a broad range of Japanese percussion instruments). Eto
naturally took the prominent role in these beatings and they were
clearly a trifle over the top because six people died as a result. Eto
and other followers had literally beaten them to death.

(50) The
Saw-Killer of Hanover was responsible for four murders in Germany in
the 1970s. The victims usually had their bodies sawn in half or their
limbs cut off. However, none of the victims could be identified and
this made capturing the killer even more difficult. Although similar
grisly murders have occasionally happened in Germany in later decades
no one has ever been connected to the 1970s killings or convicted for
the crimes.

(51) Joachim Kroll killed fourteen people between
1955 and 1976 in Germany. When he was asked to explain why he had eaten
parts of his victims, Kroll replied that he had done this to reduce his
supermarket shopping bills for food. 

(52) Jerry Brudos was a
serial killer who murdered four women in Oregon from 1968 to 1969.
Brudos was a rapist and necrophile who killed because he couldn't
control his foot fetish. He sawed off the foot of one victim and put in
the freezer. He would then often take the foot out of the freezer and
put ladies shoes on it. Jerry Brudos cut off the breasts of one of his
victims so he could make plastic moulds with it. Jerry Brudos actually
got married. It was said that he liked his wife to do the housework
naked wearing nothing but a pair of high heeled shoes. His prison cell
was said to be full of ladies shoe catalogues when he died.

(53)
The Railway Killers were John Francis Duffy and David Mulcahy. In the
early 1980s these two men attacked young women at various railway
stations in the London area. They were serial rapists and killed three
of their victims. The two men would drive around and look for
vulnerable women who were making their way home at night. Duffy said
that he and Mulcahy would play Michael Jackson's Thriller song in the
car before they raped a woman as a means to 'pysch' themselves up.

(54) The portable freezer in Jeffrey Dahmer's apartment contained 3480 g of human tissue when he was arrested. 

(55)
Monster of the Mangones was the name given to an unidentified serial
killer who killed 30+ victims in Cali, Columbia, in the 1960s and 70s.
The victims were children or young teenagers and all boys. The victims
were often killed in isolated empty parking lots. There was plenty of
evidence that the killer tortured the victims before he murdered them
with signs that many had needles stuck into them. The killer would rape
the victims before he killed them. One victim was found mummified.
There was, as you might imagine, great concern in Columbia over the
murders. At some point the killer seemed to confuse the boundaries
between fact and fiction. In fact, at certain points it was even
suggested that the Monster of the Mangones was an urban myth or folk
tale. This probably stems from the fact that it was alleged the killer
drained the blood from his victims and might be a vampire. This killer
was very real and although a few embellishments might have been added
to his dark and harrowing infamy he was terrifying enough even without
fiction. The killer, for example, removed the eyes of one victim. The
police never made any breakthrough in this case or had the faintest
idea who the killer really was. A local legend says the main suspect is
Don Adolfo Aristizabal - who owned a hotel in Cali. Legend has it that
Don Adolfo Aristizabal had a blood disease that could only be kept at
bay by drinking fresh blood (which, according to the legend, he
obtained by murdering all of these boys). You won't be surprised to
learn that the legend of Don Adolfo Aristizabal as a vampiric serial
killing hotel owner is not taken very seriously.

(56) Westley
Allan Dodd was a child killer sentenced to death in 1990. Under
Washington state law, Dodd was given the choice of hanging or lethal
injection. He chose hanging as he had murdered one of his victims by
this method and felt it would be fitting. 

(57) Joey "The
Cannibal" Methney is a killer convicted of two murders. He might have
killed thirteen people in all. Methney would put the blood of his
victims in the burgers he sold at his food stall. 

(58) Kendall
Francois was a serial killer arrested in 1998 in Poughkeepsie. When the
police searched his house they found that he had some of the skulls of
his victims in a plastic kiddie pool in the attic. 

(59) More serial killers have been born in November than any other month. 

(60)
In 1972, Fred and Rose West hired 17-year-old Caroline Owens as a
nanny. Fred assaulted and imprisoned Caroline but she managed to
escape. It was ruled by the police that Caroline had consented to the
sexual advances of Fred West. It was a baffling decision - made all the
more preposterous and tragic by later events. Owens had been too
frightened to face Fred West in court so he escaped with a fine. 

(61)
Donald Henry Gaskins was born on March 31, 1933 in Florence County,
South Carolina. He was known as 'Pee Wee' and the 'Redneck Charles
Manson'. Gaskins claimed to have killed over a hundred people although
- officially - the authorities only found concrete evidence of nine
victims linked to him. Gaskins had a difficult childhood and was only
5'2 as a grown man so he suffered from a lot of bullying. He was a
criminal from an early age and involved in theft and rape. Gaskins
escaped from prison in 1955 but was eventually arrested again in 1961.
He was found working for a travelling fair. On his next release from
prison he went back to the life of crime he was familiar with and wound
up back in prison (yet) again after he raped a twelve year-old girl.
Gaskins first verifiable (non prison) kill apparently came in 1969 when
he was out of prison again. Gaskins killed a hitch-hiker and said that
he would drive around the coast looking for victims. Gaskins was a
rather sadistic killer who like to torture his victims. He used
stabbing and suffocation as his methods of murder and claimed that he
sometimes ate parts of his victims.

In 1970, Gaskins killed his
own niece, Janice Kirby, aged 15, and her friend Patricia Ann Alsbrook,
aged 17. It was a sign of how out of control he was that he had now
targeted relatives rather than strangers. Gaskins tried to sexually
abuse both of these victims before he shot them. Gaskins, in addition
to being a serial killer purely for his own pleasure, was - oddly -
also a more conventional 'contract' killer. For a fee, he would shoot
someone, rather like a hitman. He was also known to shoot people who
irritated him. If he owed someone some money and they were starting to
get on his nerves requesting the debt, Gaskins was likely to shoot
them. The activities of Gaskins finally came to an end in 1975 when a
criminal connection told the police that he had seen Gaskins murder two
young men. The man also said that Gaskins had confessed to many
murders. Gaskins was tried on eight charges of murder on May 24, 1976,
found guilty on May 28 and sentenced to death, which was later commuted
to life in prison when the South Carolina General Assembly's 1974
ruling on capital punishment was changed. In 1982, Gaskins killed a
death row inmate named Rudolph Tyner. Gaskins had been asked to do this
by a relative of Tyner's victims. For this murder Gaskins received the
death penalty he had evaded at his trial.

(62) Under questioning, Ed Gein confessed to stealing nine bodies from the local graveyards.

(63)
During his police interviews after his arrest, Dennis Nilsen said that
he sometimes left a dead body in a chair before he went to work because
that meant he had someone to come home to in the evening.

(64) The police searched 20,000 homes during the Yorkshire Ripper case. 

(65) Jeffrey Dahmer was baptized in prison on the same day that the notorious serial killer John Wayne Gacy was executed.

(66)
Karen Hylen, a therapist at Summit Malibu Treatment Center, said that
cannibalism is addictive. If a killer samples human flesh they will do
it again. 

(67) Dennis Nilsen used to drink in The Coleherne in
Earls Court. Gay celebrities like Freddie Mercury, Kenny Everett,
Anthony Perkins, Ian McKellen and Derek Jarman were sometimes seen in
this pub.

(68) We don't know what the last meal of Richard Chase
was but there is a fair chance it might have been cold congealed
macaroni cheese. In prison, Chase was still hostage to paranoid
delusions and came to believe that the prison staff were trying to
poison his food. He therefore took to stuffing his pockets with
macaroni cheese as he believed it was the only safe thing to eat. Why
he thought the macaroni cheese was safe and everything else was
poisoned is anyone's guess. 

(69) Andrei Chikatilo's signature
was to remove the eyes of his victims. He said he believed in an old
Russian superstition that the imprint of the murderer is left in the
eyes of victims.

(70) Moses Sithole was born in Vosloorus, South
Africa in 1964. He tends to be known as The ABC Killer because his
murders took place in the towns of Atteridgeville, Boksburg, and
Cleveland. He is credited with 38 murders but (as usual with serial
killers) the true number of victims is most likely much higher than
that figure. Sithole spent some time in an orphanage as a youngster and
then developed into a rather nasty rapist. Unsurprisingly, he soon
wound up in prison. Believe it or not, around the time that his murders
began, Sithole was working for a group who campaigned against child
abuse. As they say, villainy wears many masks, none so dangerous as the
mask of virtue. It turned out though that this group was essentially
cobbled together by Sithole himself and something of a bogus sham. He
naturally though used this group to make himself more trustworthy to
victims. In this regard then he was a disturbingly creative killer who
used his skills as a conman to lure victims. 

(71) Edward Kemper suggested that death by torture should be his own punishment when asked by a judge at his trial. 

(72) Dennis Nilsen would sometimes flush pieces of flesh that weighed two pounds down the toilet. 

(73)
Anatoly Onoprienko was born in Ukraine (then part of the Soviet Union)
in 1959. Onoprienko became known as The Terminator in Ukraine for the
way he would slaughter and kill nearly anyone he stumbled across.
Onoprienko said that when he killed he felt like a robot controlled by
dark forces. Onoprienko murdered a dozen women at first and then
upgraded his activities to wiping out entire families. He would kill
any male he found in the house first and then move onto other family
embers. After taking any valuables or possessions that interested him
he would then set light to the house so that little evidence would be
left. Sometimes the police would find family photographs scattered in
the charred ruins. Onoprienko seemed to be enraged by happy families
and determined to take his revenge upon them. He killed in a
terrifyingly random way. He would shoot people sitting in cars and once
killed a police officer. If you passed Onoprienko by chance on a quiet
road or in the country your chances of survival were just about zero.
Before you knew what was happening he would have simply shot you. When
he fled from crime scenes, Onoprienko would shoot anyone who saw him so
that there would be no witnesses. Onoprienko was captured when a police
manhunt discovered he had been booted out a house for having a large
stash of weapons. One of his favourite weapons was a shotgun. Once in
custody, Onoprienko eventually confessed to 52 murders. He said that
voices in his head had made him become a mass killer. 

(74) A shirt worn by Peter Sutcliffe in prison can go for about $1,000 on collectibles websites.

(75)
Jeffrey Dahmer trained as an army medical specialist at Fort Sam
Houston in San Antonio, Texas. The ironic thing about Dahmer is that he
was trained to saved lives but was more interested in taking them. 

(76)
California murderer Clarence Ray Allen requested for his last meal a
buffalo steak, KFC, and pecan pie with black-walnut ice cream. As per
his instructions, the pie and ice cream were sugar free. 

(77)
After his arrest, Dennis Nilsen's flat was decorated and put back on
the market at £60,000 (this was 1983). The tabloids dubbed the flat the
'house of horrors' and wondered who on earth would want to live there.
A surprisingly large number of people viewed the flat merely so they
could gawp at the place where all these grisly and awful things took
place. 

(78) The Sleepy Hollow Killer is the name of an
unidentified South African rapist and serial killer responsible for the
rapes and murders of at least thirteen women around Pietermaritzburg
and the Midlands of KwaZulu-Natal. The Sleepy Hollow Killer was never
caught. The murders took place from the late 1990s to 2007. The MO of
the killer was to strangle the victims with their own panties. The
initial investigation was closed due to lack of any real progress but
three later murders then reactivated the case. In 2008 a man was
arrested in the general area for murdering a woman and dumping her body
in a forest. She had been bound and most likely raped. There was a lot
of speculation that this man could be The Sleepy Hollow Killer but -
alas - the police found there was no connection between this killer and
the murders ascribed to the Hollow serial killer. As a consequence of
this the true identity of The Sleepy Hollow Killer remains a mystery. 

(79) According to a study, 1.5% of serial killer victims were axed to death. 

(80)
Kathy Kleiner, who survived Ted Bundy's attack on the Florida
University Chi Omega sorority house, never went back to the college to
finish her studies. When she picked up her belongings from the dorm a
week later she noticed there was still blood on the wall.

(81)
During the preparation for the Richard Ramirez trial, one of the jurors
was shot dead. This created much publicity with speculation that
Ramirez had somehow orchestrated the death from prison to influence the
jury. There was of course no actual truth to this rumour.

(82) A
lethal injection will kill someone in less than five minutes. Three
different drugs are used. Sodium thiopental renders you unconscious,
pancuronium bromide stops you breathing, and potassium chloride stops
the heart.

(83) When the authorities demolished the house of
Fred West at 25 Cromwell Street, they crushed every single brick and
beam of wood so that ghoulish souvenir hunters wouldn't be able to take
anything. 

(84) In Inside Time (a newspaper for prisoners and
detainees), someone who once spent time in prison with Dennis Nilsen
said Nilsen would constantly cheat when they played Scrabble.

(85)
Case studies have suggested that 4% of condemned death row prisoners in
the United States are innocent and were wrongly convicted. 

(86) Ed Gein had nine vulvae in a shoe-box when the police searched his farmhouse. 

(87)
In order to abuct women from parks, Ted Bundy would wear tennis clothes
as if he had just stepped off the court. He would also pretend that he
had a sailing boat. The police said that Bundy even put on a fake
'British' accent to make himself sound polite and urbane to victims. 

(88)
John A. Cameron, a retired detective, wrote a book in which he claimed
that Ed Edwards (a killer convicted of five murders) was not only the
Zodiac killer but also the Black Dahlia killer. Cameron also claims
that Edwards murdered JonBenet Ramsey and Jimmy Hoffa. You probably
won't be surprised to hear that the book is not taken all that
seriously. Just about the only thing that Cameron didn't accuse Edwards
of was smuggling Hitler out of his Berlin bunker to Argentina. 

(89) The album on Jeffrey Dahmer's record player when he was arrested was Buried Dreams by Clock DVA. 

(90)
Kenneth Erskine was born in Hammersmith, London, in 1963. Erskine was a
serial killer known as The Stockwell Strangler. This was an especially
disturbed and evil man because he would target old people (of either
gender) and sexually abuse and kill them in their homes. Kenneth
Erskine was so detached from reality he would tuck his victims into bed
after he had assaulted and killed them in the preposterous hope that
the death would be classified as natural causes. He seemed to be
completely oblivious to the fact that he was leaving DNA, evidence of
sexual assault, and bruises and injuries on his victims.

(91)
Anthony Hardy was a London serial killer known as The Camden Ripper.
His background was unusual for a serial killer. He had a degree from
Imperial College and was once the director of his own company. His
mental health seemed to crumble later on though. He tried to strangle
his wife and became an alcoholic.

(92) Gerard John Schaefer was
a sheriff's deputy in Martin County, Florida. In 1972 he picked up two
hitchhiking girls and tied them to a tree. The girls escaped before he
could do anything and Schaefer claimed he was simply trying to teach
them about the perils of hitchhiking! He was not believed and sentenced
for false imprisonment. While on bail, he tortured, raped, and killed
two teenagers. When the remains of the girls were found in the woods,
Schaefer became a suspect because of his prior offence. The police
searched his home and found disturbing fiction stories he had written
about rape plus some personal items which belonged to girls who had
gone missing. It is believed that he may have killed eight young women
and teenagers in total. Schaefer was stabbed to death in prison in
1995. 

(93) Mikhail Popkov was born in Angarsk, Russia, in
1964. He is known as The Werewolf or The Angarsk Maniac. He killed over
seventy women (and that's probably a conservative estimate). Popkov was
apparently tilted into madness by an adulterous wife. This seemed to
trigger an obsessive and evil quest to extract revenge against women.
Strangely, his wife Elena Popkov continued to support him though and
said he was innocent!

(94) Robert Andrew Berdella was born in
1949, in Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio. Berdella was a serial killer who
restrained, tortured, and killed at least six men from 1984 to 1987 in
Kansas City, Missouri. He was known as The Kansas City Butcher.
Berdella ran a booth at a market called Bob’s Bizarre Bizarre which
sold oddities and antiques. It is sometimes suggested that he might
sold some of the skulls of his victims at this booth. When the police
searched Berdella's home they found that he had an elaborate torture
room but the worst was yet to come. They also found human skulls and a
human head. There was a chainsaw covered in human blood and various
body parts. The police also found photographs Berdella had taken of his
victims in various stages of torture. Berdella had also written
detailed diaries of his torture methods. 

(95) Michael del
Marco Lupo was born in Italy in 1953. Lupo was a former soldier who
moved to London to become a hairdresser. He was gay and had numerous
lovers. However, he was also a serial killer and murdered four men. As
with most serial killers, Lupo's victim tally count is suspected to be
considerably higher than can be officially verified. Lupo was fairly
good looking and referred to himself as the 'Wolf'. He moved to London
in 1975 and eventually had his own hairdressing boutique. Lupo left
some horrendous crime scenes for people to find. He also had a nasty
habit of smearing his victims in excrement. This was a very disturbed
and disgusting killer to say the least. 

(96) John William
Cooper was a killer in Britain who committed two double murders in the
1980s. He was also responsible for a string of assaults and rape. In
1989, a month before he killed again, he appeared as a contestant on
the popular darts themed TV game show Bullseye. Bullseye was a popular
Sunday afternoon prime time quiz where people played darts to win
prizes and money. Millions of people watched this show. Although he
served time in prison for robbery, it was only in 2009 (thanks to
advances in forensic science) that John William Cooper was arrested for
the murders. He was convicted and given a life sentence in 2011. Cooper
killed siblings Richard and Helen Thomas Peter and Gwenda Dixon. The
murders were known in the media as the Pembrokeshire Murders or the
Coastal Murders. The motive for murder was robbery.

(97) Javed
Iqbal was born in Lahore, Pakistan, in 1956. Iqbal is regarded to be
the worst serial killer in the history of Pakistan. His is a strange
and disturbing story. Javed Iqbal came from a solid family and went to
college. He then started his own business and lived in a villa that his
family owned. He was though gay and in the 1990s he was arrested by the
police in Lahore for an alleged act of sodomy. Iqbal was greatly
angered by this - specifically because it caused his mother much shame
and distress. Iqbal blamed his arrest for his mother's mental and
physical problems and somewhat premature death. As his 'revenge', Iqbal
decided to start murdering local boys so that their mothers would have
to grieve like his mother did. This all sounds completely bonkers (and
it IS clearly bonkers) but in the frazzled and disturbed mind of Javed
Iqbal it presumably had some sort of twisted logic. He claimed to have
killed around one hundred boys (ages from six to sixteen) by means of
strangulation. He then dissected the bodies and disposed of the remains
in acid. A lot of his victims were orphans and homeless street kids.
After he put the remains in vats of acid he would dump the containers
in the river.

In 1999, Iqbal sent a lefter to the chief of the
local newspaper in which he confessed to these murders. When the police
were called in they naturally searched his house and found evidence of
human bloodstains. There were also photographs of his victims and some
body parts still festering in acid. Four teenage boys who lived with
Iqbal were arrested on suspicion on being accomplices. One of these
alleged accomplices died in police custody. The judge at the trial
decided that Iqbal should die in the same manner that he killed his
victims. "You will be strangled to death in front of the parents whose
children you killed," said the judge. "Your body will then be cut into
100 pieces and put in acid, the same way you killed the children."
However, Pakistan's interior minister Moinudeen Haide said such a
sentence was not permitted. "We are signatories to the Human Rights
Commission. Such punishments are not allowed." It was all academic
anyway. Before the execution could be carried out, Javed Iqbal hung
himself in his prison cell in 2001. He was 45 and his bizarre and evil
life was over. 

(98) Retired FBI agent John Bassett once
speculated that Ted Bundy might have been responsible for the 1971
murder of a young woman who was killed next to the Elizabeth Lund Home
for Unwed Mothers in Vermont. The Elizabeth Lund Home for Unwed Mothers
is where Bundy was born. 

(99) There is an outlandish theory
that H.H. Holmes could have been Jack the Ripper but the evidence is
vague at best. The theory that Holmes could have been Jack the Ripper
was recently the subject of a documentary show which featured an
ancestor of H. H. Holmes. The evidence presented was that the
whereabouts of Holmes was unknown in 1888 and the Jack the Ripper
letters (if they were even genuine - many believe they were a hoax)
tended to indicate they were written by an American. The problem with
the theory that Holmes was the Ripper is there is no evidence he was in
England in 1888. There is also a rather obvious disparity in the
motivation of these killers. Holmes was a financially motivated serial
killer whereas the Ripper murdered women who had nothing in the way of
money or wealth. 

(100) Yang Xinhai was born in China in 1968.
He is the most prolific Chinese serial killer since the establishment
of the People's Republic of China. Xinhai was known as The Monster
Killer in the media. The murders began in 1999 and took place in rural
areas in the provinces of Henan, Anhui, Shandong and Hebei. Xinhai
would break into homes at night and kill the occupants with an axe or
shovel. Many of these unfortunate victims were attacked in their sleep
so barely knew what was happening and had little chance to fight back
or avoid the blows aimed at them. Xinhai always wore white gloves
during these murders and after he had finished he would leave the
gloves at the scene of the crime. It is believed that around 25 of an
estimated 67 victims were also raped by Xinhai. There were never any
survivors of these attacks and entire families were slaughtered. He was
eventually captured when DNA evidence linked him to some of the crime
scenes. He rode a bicycle around the countryside looking for houses to
break into and the vast majority of the victims were farmers and their
families. Yang Xinhai was executed on 14 February 2004 by firing squad.
The barbarity and random nature of his murders had been disturbing
indeed. 

(101) When he was in prison, Jeffrey Dahmer got 'fan mail' from as far away as Europe and South Africa. 

(102)
Randy Kraft was born in Long Beach, California in 1945. Kraft killed
dozens of men from 1973 to 1982. His targets were hitchhikers - who he
would give drugs and alcohol and then often strangle. Kraft was known
as The Scorecard Killer because he kept a tally of his victims in the
fashion of a scoresheet. The odd thing about Kraft is that he was
intelligent and worked in computers. Those that had known him at school
said he was the least likely person to be a serial killer one could
imagine. Kraft would often torture the victims and then abuse the
bodies before strangling them with a belt. Like many serial killers he
had a fetish for dominating an incapacitated or dead person. He burned
the eyes of one body with a lighter and once threw a human head off a
jetty. "I can't imagine doing these things in scientific experiments on
a dead person, much less someone alive," said the judge at Kraft's
trial. "If anyone ever deserved the death penalty, he's got it coming."

(103)
Randall Woodfield was born in Salem, Oregon, in 1950. Woodfield was
called The I-5 Killer because his victims were picked up on the
Interstate 5 corridor through Washington, Oregon, and California.
Randall Woodfield was an unlikely serial killer in terms of his social
background. Not only was he once a promising American football player
but his parents were wealthy and his sisters became a lawyer and
doctor. Woodfield was selected in the 17th 1974 Draft by the Green
Bay Packers as a wide receiver.

(104) The Danilovsky Maniac
was the name given to a Russian serial killer who murdered at least
seven victims from 2004 to 2007 in the city of Cherepovets, in the
Vologda Oblast. The killer targeted young women (many of his victims
were teenagers) and seemed to have a particular obsession with blonde
haired victims. Three of the murders occurred on a derelict building
site at Danilovsky Street (which is obviously the explanation for how
the killer got his name). The authorities offered a generous reward for
anyone who might have relevant information leading to the capture of
The Danilovsky Maniac but this reward went unclaimed. The 
Danilovsky Maniac suddenly stopped killing in 2007 and his identity was
never discovered. It was speculated that perhaps the killer might have
been incarcerated for a murder or crime in another area but Russian
police have so far not been able to connect anyone in the prison system
to DNA left at the murder sites of The Danilovsky Maniac. As a
consequence of this the case remains a genuine mystery. 

(105)
David Berkowitz was born 1953 in Brooklyn. Berkowitz became known as
Son of Sam. He was a killer who launched random shooting attacks in New
York in 1976 and 1977. There were six confirmed victims. Berkowitz
claimed that the dog (named Sam) of a neighbour was possessed by a
spirit that had ordered him to kill.

(106) Stephen Port is a
rapist and killer who murdered four men in London from 2014 to 2015. He
would drug them with GBH (gamma-Hydroxybutyric acid - known as a 'date
rape' drug). Three of the victims were disposed of in a graveyard by
Port. He was given life in prison. Stephen Port, who worked as a chef
in a bus depot, once appeared on television as a kitchen assistant in
the popular BBC show Masterchef.

(107) Richard Chase was born in
Santa Clara, California, in 1950. Chase was later nicknamed The Vampire
of Sacramento when he achieved infamy as a deranged serial killer. He
picked up this grisly and theatrical moniker because he liked to drink
the blood of animals and his human victims.

(108) David
Berkowitz pled guilty to all charges and was sentenced to life in
prison. He seemed a rather pathetic character when he was captured.
Berkowitz seemed delighted at all the attention and didn't even appear
to be aware of the human misery he had caused. There was talk of film
and book deals but this was quashed by a new legal ruling. To this day,
the law in the United States that prevent criminals financially
benefiting from their crimes is known as the Son of Sam law.

(109)
Katharina Popova came from Samara - a city in southwestern Russia,
framed by the Volga and Samara rivers. Motivated by her own unhappy
marriage, Popova set up a service whereby she would rid unhappy women
of unwanted husbands by murdering them! Believe it or not, this
business (which was obviously operated on a secret need to know basis)
flourished for thirty years and claimed hundreds of victims. Popova is
said to have participated in many of the murders herself by engineering
an acquaintance with the husband and then slipping him some arsenic. On
other occasions a hitman was sometimes dispatched to do away with the
husband in question. If you wanted to get rid of a husband and employed
Popova you had to pay her half the fee up front and then the other half
once the murder was completed. A surprisingly high number of women took
advantage of this unusual and lethal business to get rid of husbands.
The highly successful if unorthodox business run by Katharina Popova
came an end when a woman who paid for her husband to be murdered felt
such dreadful remorse and guilt over the death that she went to the
authorities and told them all about Popova and what had happened. When
word got out about Popova's activities an angry mob descended and would
have been perfectly happy to lynch her. Popova was calm though despite
her capture. She said she was proud of what she had done and felt great
pride in liberating hundreds of women from unhappy marriages. Popova
also proudly declared that she had never killed a single woman and that
all the victims were men (as if that somehow excused her crimes! - they
were ONLY men). Popova also seemed to be under the deluded belief that
her murders had been very humane because she used or supplied poison.
I'm fairly sure the person being poisoned didn't find it very humane!
Popova had to be escorted to prison by armed soldiers to keep the
unruly mob at bay. She was executed by firing squad in March 1909. 

(110)
Leonarda Cianciulli was a serial killer active in Italy during World
War 2. Her murders were unusual because they were motivated by a belief
in black magic. Cianciulli believed that if she offered up some human
sacrifices this would prevent her soldier son from coming to any harm
in the war. She subsequently killed three women. The story of Leonarda
Cianciulli was given a macabre gloss by what she did to her victims
after she killed them. She used the blood from her victims in a recipe
for tea cakes. Cianciulli also turned her last victim into bars of
soap. And yes, Leonarda Cianciulli is said to have sampled the cakes
she made from her unfortunate victims.

(111) The Son of Sam
killer was said to target women with shoulder-length brunette hair.
This had brunettes with shoulder-length hair in the Bronx all rushing
to the hairdressers to radically alter their appearance. 

(112) The police had to 're-assemble' Dennis Nilsen's last victim on a mortuary slab to identify him. 

(113)
A number of serial killers appeared on television before we knew they
were serial killers. The most famous of these TV appearances is
probably that of Rodney Alcala. Alcala is retrospectively chilling
because of his relative success in society. He went to college,
appeared on television, worked as a photographer, and got employment in
a summer camp. He was hiding in plain sight all the time. Alcala might
have killed over a hundred people for all we know. Most of his victims
will pobably never be identified. In 1978, Alcala famously appeared as
a contestant on the TV show The Dating Game. Alcala was introduced by
the host as a successful photographer who enjoys skydiving. He was
competing with two other male bachelors to win a date with the female
contestant (through answers they gave to her questions from behind a
screen). Alcala was chosen but the woman found him so creepy when the
screen was removed that she refused to go on the date. Alcala had long
hair and was sort of good looking but there was definitely something of
the night about him. He gave everyone the creeps. One of the male
contestants on The Dating Game episode with Rodney Alcala said that
Alcala had made his skin crawl that night. He described Alcala as an
obnoxious creep. When he defended himself in court at his third trial,
Alcala played a clip from his appearance on The Dating Game as part of
his defence. What he hoped to achieve by this is anyone's guess. Perhap
the creepiest part of his appearance on The Dating Game came when
Alcala was asked if he was a day person or a night person. Alcala
replied that he was a night person and said all the best things happen
at night. Given that he was in reality a serial killer this answer is
all the more chilling. 

(114) The Wednesday Strangler was an
unidentified serial killer who murdered seven women in Japan from 1975
to 1989. The killer got his name because six of the victims vanished on
a Wednesday. The murders took place in a fairly precise geographical
area of the Saga Prefecture, in the towns of Kitagata, Shiroishi,
Kitashigeyasu and Takeo. The victims greatly varied in age. The
youngest was eleven and the oldest was fifty. Five of the victims were
strangled and the last three victims were found together (which was
obviously fairly concrete evidence that these murders were connected).
It was presumed that the remaining two victims were strangled too but
this could not be officially verified because of decomposition that had
taken place on the bodies. It was impossible to say if all of these
murders were committed by the same killer. Many believe there were
probably two separate killers at work here. 

(115) It is not
known how many other victims may have been murdered by Fred West or
Rose. Fred West suggested to the police that he may have killed twenty
other people. His children think that number could be higher.

(116)
Dean Arnold Corll was born on December 24, 1939, in Fort Wayne,
Indiana. Corll is not as well known as the more famous American serial
killers but perhaps he should be. He was responsible for (at least) 28
murders and his story is shocking and complex. Corll did not suffer the
hardship and troubled childhood and youth of many serial killers. His
mother owned a candy company so his background was relatively affluent.
As a young man her served in the armed forces as a radio repairman and
was stationed at Fort Hood. Upon his honourable discharge (though his
service record was excellent, Corll didn't like the army much and
wanted to leave as quickly as possible), he worked for the family candy
company. He was considered to be a decent and friendly man to those
that knew him. This surface impression could not have been further from
the real truth. Between 1970 and 1973, twenty-eight (male) teenagers
and young men all vanished in an area of Houston where Corll lived and
worked. Corll was responsible. The teenagers and men were all lured to
house with the aid of two teenage accomplices Corll had acquired -
17-year-old Wayne Henley and 18-year-old David Brooks. Henley and
Brooks knew many of the victims and so were able to gain their trust.
The victims were taken to Corll with the promise of a party, drugs, or
alcohol, but what they found was a nightmare. Corll would soon have
them tied up, handcuffed, stripped, and then he would sexually abuse
and torture them. This would sometimes go on for days and then Corll
would either shoot or strangle them. 

Many of the victims were
then buried at Corll's boat shed on Sam Rayburn Reservoir. Before he
killed them, Corll would make the victims write notes or postcards to
their family saying they had moved away but were fine. The disturbing
thing about this killer is that he might never have been caught were it
not for one of his accomplices. Corll had attracted no suspicion from
his family, friends, or the authorities. He was very careful and kept
himself to himself. No one could ever have suspected the extent of the
dark secret life he led. It was only when Wayne Henley, one of his
teenage accomplices, couldn't take any more of the guilt and decided to
shoot Corll while he was torturing another victim. With Corll dead,
Henley and Brooks had no option but to confess all to the police.
Henley was tried in 1975. Henley was found guilty of all six murders
for which he was tried. He managed to obtain a retrial in 1979 but it
didn't go any better for him. Henley was again convicted of six murders
and sentenced to six concurrent 99-year terms. The trial of David
Brooks took place in 1975. His lawyers tried to argue that it was Corll
and Henley who did the killing. He was arrested for five murders but
only tried for one. For this he received life imprisonment. Both of
these men are still in prison today. As more boys and young men
vanished in the Houston area around the time that Corll was active than
the official tally of twenty-eight known victims, it seems plausible to
think that the real number of victims is probably higher. Many
teenagers and young men were in all likelihood saved when Henley
decided he couldn't take anymore and shot Corll. Who knows how long
Corll would have gone on killing without being detected. There would
unavoidably have been many more victims of this evil man. 

(117)
The Alphabet Murders are an unsolved series of child murders which
occurred between 1971 and 1973 in Rochester, New York. 'The Alphabet
Killer is considered to be one of the greatest unsolved mysteries as
far as crime is concerned in the United States,' wrote the Greatest
Unsolved Mysteries website. 'The individual that committed what is
referred to as the Alphabet Murders have perplexed law enforcement
officials in the area of Rochester, New York since the year of 1971.
Three very young females were taken by the killer, violently raped, and
then murdered immediately thereafter. What makes this case particularly
interesting when it comes to the investigation is that all the three
children had names in which their first name and their last name had
the exact same initial. 

(118) There have been endless Jack the
Ripper books proposing all manner of theories (some outlandish and long
since debunked and others plausible and interesting) and all manner of
suspects. While some of the suspects floated are plainly ridiculous (Dr
Barnardo, John Merrick etc) there are many fascinating realistic Ripper
suspects who remain worthy of investigation. The thing is though that
they can't ALL have been Jack the Ripper. This means that the vast
majority of Ripper suspects are actually red herrings. Sifting through
them all to find the most likely suspect is far from easy and a task
that has kept true crime and detective buffs busy for over a hundred
years. 

(119) Dennis Nilsen was captured because a plumbing
company was called out to unblock the drain outside the house where he
had his flat at Cranley Gardens. Nilsen was no genius when it came to
covering his tracks and disposing of evidence. It was almost as if he
wanted to get caught. Film and TV often depicts serial killers as
elusive criminal masterminds who are always two steps ahead of the
police. The reality is very different. Dennis Nilsen made such an
obvious blunder that we can only presume that, even on a subconscious
level, it was partly intentional. Nilsen had been flushing body parts
and bones down the toilet. The drain incident that led to Nilsen's
capture began when one of the downstairs residents complained that his
toilet wouldn't flush. When he learned that someone was having trouble
flushing the toilet in the house at Cranley Gardens, Nilsen didn't
realise at first that he had caused the blockage by flushing remains
down the toilet. He was a bit slow on the uptake. When he first heard
that there might be a problem with the drains, Nilsen stopped flushing
his own toilet. 

The bizarre thing about Nilsen's capture is
that he himself wrote a letter to the landlord complaining about the
drain being blocked! In his bizarre letter to the agents complaining
about his toilet not flushing, Nilsen also complained about the
flickering lights in the communal areas of the house. Given that he had
been rumbled and was about to be arrested this was an eccentric letter
indeed. We can only presume some sort of deflection was intended.
Nilsen might have deduced that he would not be suspected of blocking
the drains if it came to light that that he had written a letter of
complaint about them. Mike Cattran was the Dyno-Rod employee called out
to unblock the drain. He said the smell of human decay when he lifted
up the manhole cover was overwhelming. Nilsen went out to see what the
fuss was all about and tried to suggest to Mike Cattran that the drains
to his building must be blocked with fast food. This ruse obviously
didn't work. After Dyno-Rod were called out to unblock the drain,
Nilsen made an attempt to remove bones and flesh from the drain himself
but it was too late. The flesh and bones that clogged the drains had
attracted a lot of rats. Mike Cattran said that the drain outside
Nilsen's building contained a foul smelling sludge and about thirty
pieces of flesh.

(120) Ted Bundy was ultimately rejected by his
first girlfriend Stephanie Brooks. Bundy said he felt socially out of
depth with Brooks. She had brown hair parted in the middle - which
obviously led to the theory that Bundy always sought victims who looked
like Brooks. 

(121) A collector once put Jeffrey Dahmer's prison glasses up for sale. He wanted $150,000 for them.

(122)
In 1999 a man named Simon Charles in Nottingham was inspired by Dennis
Nilsen when he killed his housemate Grenville Carter. Simon Charles had
read about how Nilsen dissected bodies in his flat and eventually
disposed of the evidence. Charles, a man with a history of violence,
had throttled his friend and chopped him up using just a Stanley knife
and junior hacksaw — simply because he irritated him. He had read how
Nilsen cut up his victims’ bodies to dispose of them. Detectives said
Charles remembered how Nilsen once talked how little blood there was
when dismembering a body. Simon Charles cut his victim up into twelve
separate pieces and then dumped the remains in a cemetery. 

(123)
Mark Prothero, who was part of Gary Ridgway's legal team, said that
Gary Ridgway was a very polite and respectful person to talk to and
that if you didn't know better you would genuinely have no idea that he
was a prolific serial killer. 

(124) Estate agents who try to
sell the two flats where Dennis Nilsen used to live are obliged to warn
prospective buyers about the dark history of the properties. Dennis
Nilsen's last home at Flat 23D Cranley Gardens, Muswell Hill, was put
on the market to buy for around £250,000 in 2013. In 2016, The Sun
reported that a couple had purchased Dennis Nilsen's old flat at
Melrose Avenue for £493,000 and turned it into their 'dream home'. The
couple said they were not bothered by the dark history of the property
and didn't dwell on that. The garden, where Nilsen burned the remains
of his victims, was now used by the couple to grow vegetables. 

(125) Edward Kemper used his mother's head as a dartboard after he'd killed and decapitated her.  

(126)
Jeffrey Dahmer purchased contact lenses with yellow tint. It is said
that he did this in tribute to the yellow eyed emperor villain in the
original Star Wars movies. 

(127) Ted Bundy's fingerprints were never found at a crime scene. 

(128) Richard Ramirez wore sunglasses through his trial. 

(129) Dennis Radar became known as the BTK killer - BKT meaning bind, torture, kill. 

(130) The police hung up on Edward Kemper when he made his first telephone confession because they thought it was a prank. 

(131)
When the Jeffrey Dahmer trial began, Dahmer's lawyer warned the jury
that they were "Going to hear about things you probably didn't know
existed in the real world." 

(132) Dennis Nilsen's second
victim was the Candadian tourist Kenneth Ockendon in December 1979.
Dennis Nilsen met Kenneth Ockendon in the Princess Louise pub in
Holborn. The pair went on a sightseeing tour of London and drank
together for several hours. When they went back to the flat, Nilsen
learned that Ockendon was going home to Canada the next day. Nilsen
couldn't bear the thought of Ockendon leaving so he killed him and kept
the corpse for company. Dennis Nilsen said he used to put the dead body
of Kenneth Ockendon to bed and say 'good night' to him. Nilsen even
watched Shaw Taylor on Police Five (a Crimewatch style TV show of the
era) appeal for any news people might have about the missing Kenneth
Ockenden.

(133) If you ever wonder where Ted Bundy got all his
plaster of Paris from, the answer is simple. He used to work in a
medical supply depot.

(134) It is estimated that around 7% of serial killers in America served in the military. 

(135) The serial killer Herb Baumeister once got fired from a job for urinating on an envelope.

(136)
Dennis Nilsen actually got a promotion when he worked at a Jobcentre.
Though argumentative, he was considered to be good at his job.

(137)
Dennis Nilsen is another serial killer who served in the police. In
1972 Nilsen was posted to Wilsden Green Police Station and served as a
beat bobby before he eventually decided that this wasn't the career for
him. When he was a police officer, Dennis Nilsen sometimes walked the
beat at Willesden Green on his own. If you lived in that area at the
time you might well have walked past PC Nilsen in the street.

(138) The Stockwell Strangler, aka Kenneth Erskine, is still suspected of at least four other murders that remain unsolved. 
 
(139) Fred West was a plasterer by trade - which must have come in handy when he was trying to hide bodies. 

(140)
A student who went to Ohio State college in 1998 said there was sign on
the door of Jeffrey Dahmer's old room which read - "Yes, Jeffrey Dahmer
used to live here. No, you cannot come in to see it."
 
(141)
Serial killers often keep souvenirs from their crimes. Dahmer kept body
parts, Bundy kept polaroids, and Joel Rifkin kept jewelry. Dennis Rader
was found to have a collection of driving licences belonging to his
victims. 

(142) A few men had a lucky escape from Aileen Wuornos. One man actually saw the gun in her purse and managed to drive away. 

(143) Jeffrey Dahmer killed Steven Tuomi in room 507 of the Ambassador Hotel. You can stay in this room today if you book it. 

(144)
Harold Shipman could not be buried for fear that his grave would be
attacked. In the end he was secretly cremated with only his wife and
children in attendance at the service.

(145) In cases where
serial killers were never caught, the most obvious suspects naturally
become people who died or were incarcerated around the time the murders
stopped. 

(146) Dennis Nilsen had to view some autopsied bodies
in the morgue as a police officer. He found this experience completely
fascinating and sexually exciting. Nilsen said that he once found the
body of a dead teenage girl in the morgue attractive and exciting
because she looked like a little boy.

(147) Joseph James
DeAngelo would break into the houses of his victims before his ACTUAL
break-in to take ammunition out of guns and hide any potential weapons.
He wanted to make his victims as vulnerable as possible. 

(149)
In the book House of Horrors by John Lisners, it is alleged that a
former police colleague of Dennis Nilsen, on hearing later about the
grisly story of murder unfolding at Cranley Gardens in the early 1980s,
said - "If it's an ex-copper my money is on Dennis Nilsen."

(150)
When his trial began, Jeffrey Dahmer was taken to the courtroom
handcuffed to a wheelchair. He was then released and allowed to walk in
and take his seat. 

(151) One of Dennis Nilsen's hobbies in
prison was to compose music on a Casio keyboard. He apparently composed
eighty pieces of music.

(152) Radford University's data suggested that over 50% of active serial killers are under 30. 

(153)
Joseph James DeAngelo attended community meetings about the Golden
State Killer's crime spree in the 1970s. This was a classic example of
hiding in plain sight. 

(154) Jeffrey Dahmer said that if he
had found a submissive and obedient romantic partner who never left him
he might not have killed. He basically wanted a loyal mindless sex
slave who did whatever he wanted 24 hours a day. The type of person
that Dahmer fantasised about though didn't actually exist in real life.
Dahmer was dangerously delusional and the gulf between fantasy and
reality became too much for him in the end.

(155) Serial killers
often say that killing is very addictive once they do it for the first
time. Tommy Lynn Sells was connected to around a dozen murders but he
claimed to have killed about seventy people. He said that killing for
him was like taking a shot of dope. It was the ultimate high and he was
constantly chasing that high again once he'd sampled it.

(156) A
band called Macabre wrote a song about Dennis Nilsen called You're
Dying to Be with Me. It was on their 2003 album Murder Metal.

(157)
The police detectives who questioned Jeffrey Dahmer said he had an
excellent memory. He could recall many intricate little details about
his victims. 

(158) There is sometimes a tendency to think that
a disproportionate percentage of serial killers are gay. This is
probably a consequence of famous gay serial killers like Nilsen,
Jeffrey Dahmer, and John Wayne Gacy. Studies show though that the
overwhelming majority of serial killers are heterosexual. This tends to
make the most notorious gay serial killers more famous. They aren't
quite as common.

(159) The BTK killer Dennis Radar, who killed
at least ten people, fitted security alarms for a living. He said many
people had alarms fitted by him because of their fear of the BTK
killer! 

(160) The Guardian reported that Dennis Nilsen had
once left a bag of human intestines at a bus stop. That may or may not
be true but Nilsen was incredibly cold and callous in the way that he
disposed of victims.

(161) Ted Bundy is the only person who knew
how many people he really killed but he is suspected of many unsolved
murders that happened during the years when he was active. In May 1969,
nineteen year-olds Susan Davis and Elizabeth Perry were stabbed to
death and their abandoned car was found beside Garden State Parkway
outside Somers Point, New Jersey, near Atlantic City. The bodies of the
two teenagers were found in some woods - one was clothed and the other
was naked. Bundy is a suspect in the murders of these two young women
primarily because, in interviews with a forensic psychologist, he
suggested that his first murders took place in that area. Bundy's aunt
also said that Bundy was involved in a car accident around this time
and had a leg cast. This sounds suspiciously like his plaster of
Paris/crutches scam that he would use in order to get women close to
his car. It seems plausible that Bundy never really had a car accident
and used the leg-cast ruse on these two unfortunate teenagers -
especially if he was in that area at the time. Officially though, the
case remains unsolved and there seems no way of proving if Bundy was
responsible.

(162) Jeffrey Dahmer had a copy of the film Hellbound: Hellraiser II in his apartment when he was arrested. 

(163)
The most prolific ever serial killer in the United States could well be
Samuel Little. Little claimed to have murdered 93 women from 1970 to
2005. The police believe he was not lying and have verified up to 50
victims so far. Little's method of murder was nearly always
strangulation.

(164) The medical Charles Cullen was said to enjoy doing 'prank' telephone calls to funeral homes.

(165)
The mass poisoner Jane Toppan was jilted at the alter - which may well
have been the main source of her anger and mental instability. Toppan
said that if she had become a wife and mother she never would have
killed. 

(166) Andrei Chikatilo, who killed over fifty children
and young people, was married and had two children. His wife later said
- "If I had known what my husband was doing all those years, then, of
course, I would have done something to stop him. But how was I to know?"

(167)
In a decade where long hair, hippies, drug taking, pop music,
psychedelia, and counter culture was cool, Ted Bundy cut a resolutely
traditional figure. Bundy was more Eishenhower era than The Rolling
Stones. He had short hair and smart preppie clothes. He was a
Republican and volunteered at the Seattle office of Nelson
Rockefeller's presidential campaign. Bundy attended the 1968 GOP
convention as a delegate for Nelson Rockefeller.

(168) One of
Jeffrey Dahmer's pranks at school was to 'photobomb' the National Honor
Society group photo. They had to black Dahmer out of the photograph. 

(169) Arthur Conan Doyle was the first person to suggest that Jack the Ripper might have been a woman.

(170) Radford University's 2018 data estimated that Scotland had produced 15 serial killers in its history. 

(171)
The (future) author Ann Rule said that when she worked on the suicide
helpline with Ted Bundy, he would walk her to her car after work to
make sure she was safe. 

(172) Necrophilia dates back hundreds of years and has been documented in Greek mythology. 

(173) Dr Harold Shipman was found to have an IQ of 140. That was actually lower than Jeffrey Dahmer.

(174)
Though a 'lone wolf' who loved freedom and time alone to roam and kill,
Ted Bundy was also able to integrate and surround himself with enough
trappings of 'normality' to mask his true nature from those that knew
him.

(175) When he was captured, David Berkowitz asked the police why they had taken so long to find him. 

(176)
Ted Bundy may have killed for the first time in 1961 when an eight
year-girl named Ann Marie Burr vanished from her home in Tacoma. Bundy
lived only four streets away at the time and his uncle was Ann Marie's
music teacher. Despite these rather suspicious links connecting him to
the missing girl, Bundy never confessed to this crime.

(177) Dennis Nilsen said he had to get drunk before he could face up to dissecting his victims. 

(178) Edward Kemper was 6'9 tall and weighed something approaching 300 pounds. His victims had little chance of fighting back.

(179) Ed Gein was said to enjoy playing the flute. 

(180) John Wayne Gacy drove a black Oldsmobile Delta 88. He liked this car because it had a big trunk.

(181)
Patrick David Mackay murdered eleven people in England from 1974 to
1975. Mackay, who was from Kent, was disturbed from a young age and
once tried to set a church on fire. 
Mackay somehow befriended a
priest named Father Anthony Crean. Crean tried to help Mackay (even
when Mackay stole from him) but Mackay eventually killed the priest
with an axe. 
Mackay killed another man with an axe and his awful
catalogue of crimes included throwing a woman from a train and kicking
a homeless man off a bridge. Mackay was so devoid of humanity he once
killed a 92 year-old woman with his bare hands. Due to diminished
responsibility (Mackay was clearly insane), Patrick David Mackay was
convicted of manslaughter and given life in prison in 1975.  

(182) Dennis Nilsen once tried to block a play at the Edinburgh Fringe that was loosely based on his life. 

(183)
OJ Simpson was, if you believe in his guilt (and the civil trial
certainly did), only one murder away from being classified as a serial
killer. 

(184) Scientific American said that serial killers only account for 1% of the yearly murders in America. 

(185)
The British satirical comic Viz has a long running joke where lorry
drivers are always serial killers. This probably stems from Peter
Sutcliffe. 

(186) Dennis Nilsen said it came as a genuine surprise to him how easy it was to kill someone and apparently get away with it.

(187) In 2018, it was estimated that the United States had produced 2743 serial killers in its history. 

(188) Radford University's 2016 report found that, on average, serial killers kill for the first time at 27 years-old. 

(189)
Jeffrey Dahmer said he first ate human flesh purely as an 'experiment'
but it became sexually exciting for him to do this in the end. 

(190) Albert Fish was fond of watersports. And no, I don't mean water skiing.  

(191)
Marie-Madeleine d'Aubray - Marquise de Brinvilliers was born in Paris
in 1630. She was a French aristocrat who murdered her father and
brothers in order to inherit their estates. However, it is often
claimed that killed dozens of people in hospitals while testing and
refining the poison which she would used to kill her relatives. The
truth of this later claim is disputed but it wouldn't surprise you if
it was true. Marquise de Brinvilliers was clearly a ruthless and
ambitious woman who would stop at nothing to get what she wanted.

(192)
The Beast of Florence was a killer who murdered around sixteen people
in Italy from 1968 to 1985. The killer had an MO very similar to the
Zodiac Killer in America. The Beast of Florence would shoot couples who
were sitting together in a car. The killer sometimes removed the sex
organs of his female victims. The 1999 novel Hannibal was inspired by
the Florence case. The killer was never caught by the Italian police -
although theories continue to abound. One such theory is that a satanic
cult was behind the murders. 
 
(193) Harold Shipman first
aroused suspicion in 1988 when a funeral home noted that he seemed to
order a strangely high number of cremations. 

(194) Ed Gein had no electricity on his farm.

(195)
Gerald and Charlene Gallego became known as the Love Slave Killers in
Sacramento, California. This was an unlikely duo. Gerald Gallego was a
known criminal who once molested a child but Charlene Gallego was from
a good family and intelligent. Nonetheless, they married and he exerted
great control over her. Gerald Gallego's fantasy to was have 'love
slaves' and Charlene facilitated this by helping him to lure victims to
their van. In 1978 Gerald Gallego raped and murdered two teenage girls
that Charlene had found. He would kill five more people in 1980 -
including one man. Gerald and Charlene Gallego were thankfully captured
in 1980. Charlene agreed to testify against Charlene Gallego as part of
a plea bargain that would reduce her sentence. He was sentenced to
death but died of natural causes in prison in 2002. Charlene Gallego
was released in 1997. She said she had tried to save the victims and
did not participate in the murders. Many believe though that she was
released far too early. 

(196) When Fred West's old house at 25
Cromwell Street was demolished by the council, there was a dispute over
the iron sign with the house number. The council wanted to melt it down
and destroy it but some West relatives (for reasons best known to
themselves) wanted to keep it. 
 
(197) Wendy Patrickus,
who was one of Jeffrey Dahmer's lawyers, had to visit his apartment
when it was still an active crime scene. She said she vomited
afterwards. 

(198) Fred West put peepholes in the rooms he rented out so that he could spy on the lodgers.

(199)
Graham Young was known as The Teacup Poisoner. He was sent to Broadmoor
in 1962 for poisoning his family and killing his stepmother. Deemed
cured, he was released nine years later and secured work at a
laboratory. Soon, the work colleagues of Young began to fall
mysteriously ill. He had of course been poisoning them as part of his
chemical experiments!

(200) Prisons in Texas abandoned the
tradition of the last meal for condemned death row prisoners in 2011.
There are a couple of reasons why they did this. The first was the fact
that there were numerous documentation cases of prisoners receiving a
last meal but then being reprieved at the last minute. Prisons clearly
got a bit tired of laying on last meals for prisoners who (thanks to
appeals) were then not even executed anyway. Another reason why
lawmakers and prison officials in Texas dropped the last meal request
was the convicted murderer Lawrence Russell Brewer. For his last meal
in a Texas prison, the condemned Brewer requested chicken-fried steaks,
one pound of barbecued meat, a triple-patty bacon cheeseburger, a
meat-lover's pizza, three fajitas, an omelet, a bowl of okra, one pint
of Blue Bell Ice Cream, some peanut-butter fudge with crushed peanuts
and three root beers. However, when this feast finally arrived Brewer
never actually ate a single bite of it. As you might imagine, the
prison staff were pretty annoyed about that.

(201) The Axeman of
New Orleans was an American serial killer active in New Orleans,
Louisiana, in 1918 and 1919. There were six people killed and six
injured during his bloody spree of violence. The killer was never
identified and seemed to target the local Italian community. The killer
used an axe or razor to kill the victims. The victims were mostly
female but he killed a few men who were unfortunate enough to be in the
houses he had broken into. Sexual sadism was the most likely motive as
the killer never seemed to rob the victims. Because the victims were
Italian-Americans some sort of Mafia link was suspected but this was
never proven. The identity of the killer remains a mystery. 

(202) When one is in the electric chair, a surge of 2,000 volts stops the heart and makes you pass out. 

(203)
On the 29th of March 2014, 33-year-old James Attfield was found gravely
and distressingly injured in a park in Colchester, Essex. Attfield
already had an existing brain injury as a result of a car accident and
was a father of five. He had been out drinking in the park late at
night and, rather inebriated, was laying back on the grass when the
savage and sudden attack took place. The crime took place after
midnight when there were few people around. The killer had patently
been staking out of the park and waiting for the right moment to
strike. Attfield was discovered early in the morning by a member of the
public and the police and paramedics were called. The crime scene was
like something out of a 1980s slasher film. There was blood everywhere
and Attfield had been stabbed around 100 times. Even by the grim
standards of knife crime this was an unusually savage and vicious
attack and seemed to have been prolonged by the assailant to a
disturbingly sadistic degree. Many of the stab wounds in this awful
case were to the face - including one of Attfield's eyes. 

Incredibly,
the victim was still somehow alive when he was found but the injuries
were so severe that Attfield did not survive for too much longer. About
three months later there was a similar awful murder case in the area -
this time at Salary Brook Trails, just off Avon Way. A 31 year-old
Saudi Arabian student named Nahid Almanea was stabbed to death as she
walked back to the campus at the University of Essex. Nahid Almanea had
been stabbed in both eyes - in addition to her abdomen. The blade of
the assailant had penetrated her kidneys and brain. Though the attack
was less prolonged and frenzied (it seems the killer had less time in
this instance) than the James Attfield case there was clearly a similar
MO in that both victims had been stabbed in the eye. These two tragic
murders certainly seemed to have some of the hallmarks of the same
maniac. The police now took the logical step of questioning anyone in
the area who had any recorded history of knife crime. This amounted to
around seventy people - many of them (rather depressingly) teenagers.
One of the many teenagers who was questioned was a fifteen year-old boy
named James Fairweather. Fairweather was a pupil at Colchester Academy.
About a year previously he had tried to rob a shop at knifepoint in an
attempt to steal some cigars (which was a pretty bizarre thing for a 15
year-old kid to be trying to steal). As a result of this strange crime
Fairweather was given 12 months of youth supervision. The authorities
had found Fairweather to be cooperative in their dealings with him
during these previous twelve months and he hadn't, as far as they could
see, got into any more trouble.  

On May the 27th, 2015, a
woman named Michelle Sadler was walking her dog along roughly the same
route where Nahid Almanea had been murdered. Michelle spotted a young
figure in some bushes who was acting in a very suspicious manner. She
then noticed a very sinister detail. The figure seemed to be wearing
latex gloves. There had been  much local press about the recent
'Colchester Murders' so Michelle sensibly didn't hang around. She raced
away and called the police as soon as she thought it was safe. Michelle
was shrewd enough to go and find some other dog walkers who had much
larger dogs than her. Surrounded by dog walkers (and some very large
dogs!) she now felt safe enough to take action. The police were quick
to dispatch some officers to the location. They couldn't afford to lose
the chance to catch what might very well be the killer they were
looking for. Fairweather, who clearly hadn't had sufficient time to get
out of the area, was arrested in the general vicinity. It was of course
Fairweather who had been in the bushes with the latex gloves. He had
planned to make Michelle Sadler his third victim but - thankfully -
those plans had now been foiled. There is no question that Michelle
Sadler saved lives by her clear thinking actions that night.
Fairweather would unquestionably have killed again if he hadn't been
caught so soon. 

James Fairweather, in contrast to most
killers, did not waste any time trying to pretend he was innocent. He
confessed to the two murders straight away and seemed to enjoy and
relish the chance to talk about his crimes to someone. He displayed no
remorse and no emotion. He matter of factly described his blood
drenched murders in the same way that someone might explain how they
had prepared their lunch. The police were astonished by how unaffected
Fairweather was by his situation and his gruesome crimes. This kid
genuinely couldn't have cared less that he had brutally murdered two
innocent people by pushing a knife into their brain and stabbing them
multiple times. 

Because of the nature of his crimes,
Fairweather was tried in court as an adult. His defence team claimed he
was suffering from schizophrenic-psychosis and wanted a manslaughter
charge but experts disputed this assertion. It was established that
Fairweather displayed some signs of autism but this was hardly a
defence for two savage and gory murders which made Michael Myers look
like Florence Nightingale. Fairweather was sentenced to life in prison
with no possibility of parole for at least 27 years. It seems more than
possible that he will spend his whole life behind bars. When the
verdict was read he showed no emotion and simply gave a thumbs-up.

(204)
Edward Kemper killed his grandparents in 1964 when he was only fifteen
years old. He was declared paranoid schizophrenic and sent to the
Atascadero State Hospital. He shot and stabbed his grandmother and then
calmly waited for his grandfather to get home so he could shoot him
dead. Because he killed when he was still a child, Kemper is sometimes
assumed to be the inspiration for Michael Myers in the Halloween horror
films. Kemper was released from the Atascadero State Hospital when he
was 21. One of the reasons for this was that the staff liked him. They
even allowed Kemper to became an unofficial part of the staff and test
new patients with them. Kemper had an IQ of 145 and was very
intelligent and articulate. They believed Kemper was cured and no
danger to anyone. This would obviously prove to be a tragic mistake. 

(205)
It was Dennis Rader's technical incompetence and stupidity that led to
his arrest. Dismayed that the BTK killer was no longer in the news, he
began sending cryptic confession messages to the police and media. He
ended up sending the police a floppy disk on which they retrieved
deleted metadata which contained the name 'Dennis' and mentioned the
local Christ Lutheran Church (where Rader was a big cheese). The police
put 2 and 2 together and quickly deduced that Dennis Rader was their
man. Dennis Rader liked to think of himself as a criminal genius but he
was always pretty dumb. Not only did he get himself captured with his
floppy disk mistake but his letters to the police and media were
riddled with spelling and grammar mistakes. 

(206) Velma
Barfield was born in South Carolina in 1932. She was a serial poisoner
eventually convicted and sentenced to death. Barfield was killed by
lethal injection in 1984. Velma Barfield had one of the more basic and
inexpensive last meal requests in the long history of death row. The
prison kitchen was not required when it came to Velma's last meal. She
simply asked for a bag of Cheez Doodles!

(207) The singer Debbie Harry claimed that she once narrowly escaped getting picked up by Ted Bundy.

(208) Jeffrey Dahmer told the police that human flesh was very tender to eat. 

(209)
Many believe that Jack the Ripper was much more likely to have been a
butcher than someone with medical knowledge. We simply don't know for
sure though. One of the reasons why there were so few eye (and ear!)
witnesses to Jack the Ripper's murders is that sewage at that time was
left to fester in the street and cellars. People usually closed their
windows to block out the stench. The eyewitness accounts of the Ripper
never led an identification which unveiled the killer. As for the
letters allegedly written by the Ripper, well, opinion varies on
whether or not any of them were actually from the killer. Scotland Yard
had to deal with an awful lot of hoaxers during the Ripper case. There
were even numerous men who confessed to being the Ripper but were then
proven to have nothing whatsoever to do with the murders. 

(210) Joel Rifkin was alleged to have been inspired by the Alfred Hitchcock film Frenzy. 

(211) Criminal psychologist David Wilson said that Dennis Nilsen used to send him Christmas cards from prison. 

(212)
Earle Nelson was born in 1897 in San Francisco, California. He tends to
be known as The Dark Strangler. Earle was the first prolific American
serial killer of the 20th century (indeed for many years he thought to
be the MOST prolific American serial killer - at least until the serial
killer explosion of later years). Nelson's killing spree began in 1926.
His modus operandi soon became clear. Nelson would dress him quite
smartly and, Bible in hand, pretend to be a Christian traveller looking
for a room to rent. His targets were middle-aged landladies. Once he
had charmed the landlady sufficiently and got his foot inside the door
(so to speak), Nelson would strangle them (sometimes with a chord) and
then usually have sex with the body. He was - of course - a necrophile
in addition to being a serial killer. He is credited with 22 murders
but there are at least seven unsolved murders where he is considered to
be a suspect.

(213) Albert Fish told the police that he once made a stew out of the nose and ears of one of his victims. 

(214)
FBI Serial Crime Unit chief John Douglas once estimated there were
around 25 to 50 active serial killers in the United States. This was
felt by many to be a rather conservative estimate.

(215) Leonard
Lake and Charles Ng were a notorious serial killing duo who abducted,
raped and tortured from 1983 to 1985. Lake was the boss of the duo and
although Ng was much younger he was no less sadistic. These two evil
men were both crazy. They had a military background and were into
survivalist conspiracy theories. They might have killed 30 people
although the verifiable figure is around twelve. They built a special
bunker to keep their victims captive as sex slaves. 

(216) Jeffrey Dahmer's confession to the police started at 1-30am and ended at 7-15am. 

(217)
When the Wests became famous (in the worst possible way), many found it
strange to think that Rose West was apparently a sex maniac who not
only worked as a prostitute but also helped lure young women into
Fred's car. In the 1990s, when the bodies were discovered at Cromwell
Street, Rose West was frumpy and overweight with oversized 'granny'
specs. However, in the early seventies she was a young woman. She would
not have elicited much suspicion back then. One would hardly have
looked at the young Rose West and guessed that she was a depraved
sexual abuser and psychopath. 

(218) Dennis Nilsen said he used to get a sexual thrill from watching the limbs of a dead victim dangle around

(219) An empty candy wrapper that Charles Manson used will go for $750. Who wants an empty candy wrapper?

(220) The drain cover from Robert Berdella's basement went on sale for $2,000. 

(221)
Serial killers will even do surveillance on potential targets. Before
his gruesome attack on the Florida University Chi Omega sorority house
in 1978, Ted Bundy hung around the campus and even drank in some
student bars. He was essentially doing some research before his
harrowing attack.

(222) Ed Kemper was one of the few serial
killers to give himself up to the police. It is very rare for serial
killers to turn themselves in. 

(223) When he was in custody, Jeffrey Dahmer said that if he'd had a video camera he would have shot film of his dead victims 

(224) David Berkowitz was, among other things, a taxi driver.

(225) As a kid, Jeffrey Dahmer was briefly in the Boy Scouts and went camping with them.

(226)
Donald Gaskins is pretty much the shortest of the more famous serial
killers at 5'4. They didn't call him Pee Wee for nothing. 

(227)
A man who moved into the Bradford flat that used to belong to the
Crossbow Cannibal justified his decision by saying that the rent was
very cheap.

(228) During the Jack the Ripper murders, Queen
Victoria received thousands of letters from women demanding that the
police do more to catch the killer.

(229) In the last decade there have been an average of 43 serial killers a year in the United States. 

(230)
There was a long gap of nearly ten years between Jeffrey Dahmer's first
and second murders. This is somewhat uncommon for serial killers. 

(231)
The 1988 publication Sexual Homicide, Patterns and Motives said that
70% of families who raised a serial killer have had a history of
alcohol abuse.

(232) John Wayne Gacy once worked as a mortician’s assistant. 

(233)
John Wayne Gacy used his experience as a mortician’s assistant to block
the cavities of his victims with rags and underwear. This prevented too
much leakage after death. 

(234) On December 13, 1994, Fred
West was charged on 12 counts of murder and taken into custody at
Winson Green Prison in Birmingham, where, on January 1, 1995, he hung
himself in his cell with knotted bed sheets. Before his suicide, Fred
had appeared in court with his wife Rose West but she blanked him. He
seemed surprised and upset by this.

(235) Dennis Rader said he
once broke into a house and got so impatient waiting for the victim to
come home that he left a creepy message on the bathroom mirror and
departed. 

(236) William Patrick Fyfe was known as the Handyman
Killer. He operated in Montreal and pretended to be repair man to gain
admittance to the homes of women. He confessed to the rape and murder
of nine women. Fyfe began his activities in the early eighties and went
on his last spree in 1999. 

(237) True crime collectible sites used to sell dirt alleged to be from Ed Gein's farm. 

(238)
The childhood of Richard (The Night Stalker) Ramirez was not exactly
helped by his adoration of a cousin who served in Vietnam. This cousin
filled the head of Ramirez with tales (and often photographic evidence)
of war atrocities and also taught Ramirez how to use a knife. The
cousin of Ramirez later shot his own wife while Ramirez was present.

(239) Kesha’s 2010 song Cannibal was controversial because it mentioned Jeffrey Dahmer 

(240) Dennis Nilsen left the eyes in when he boiled heads. 

(241) One of Jeffrey Dahmer's regular pranks at school was to trace the outline of a murder victim in chalk on the floor. 

(242) As a young man, Dennis Nilsen would smear himself with white makeup and pretend he was dead. He said he found this erotic.

(243) Gary Ridgeway didn't kill for ten years after meeting his second wife.  

(244) One of Jeffrey Dahmer's tax return forms can sell for $500 on true crime collectibles sites.

(245)
When the actor Sean Penn (who was famously obstreperous and known to
punch journalists) served some time in L.A County jail in 1987, he
discovered that Richard Ramirez was in the same prison. Ramirez had a
fan letter passed to Penn.

(246) When he lived at 195 Melrose
Avenue, Dennis Nilsen was a victim of burglars and two police
detectives came to the flat to take the details. Nilsen was amazed that
the detectives didn't notice the foul odour seeped into his home from
all the body parts. 

(247) The autograph of Albert Fish sold for $30,000 in 2010 on a crime website. 

(248)
Fred West was a remarkably odd looking man. He was short with curly
black hair and large sideburns, had a limp, and looked weirdly
wolf-like. He also had what you might call a classic 'country bumpkin'
accent and could barely read or write. Despite his strange appearance
and lack of education, Fred West considered himself to be a ladies man.
In his own mind he was charming and handsome. 

(249) Perhaps
the strangest part of the Richard Chase story is that he was deemed
sane by the authorities when they finally had him in custody. This was
a serial killer who once injected himself with animal blood and put an
orange on his head for health purposes. It would probably be fair to
say that if Richard Chase wasn't crazy then no one is! 

(250)
When the police entered the apartment of German serial killer Joachim
Kroll, they found him cooking his last victim. One of her hands was
boiling in a saucepan. 

(251) Tracey Wiggington is an
Australian murderer who is known as The Lesbian Vampire Killer as she
was a self styled vampire who killed a man in order to drink his blood.
She was involved in killing a man named Edward Baldock. The stabbing
was so violent and frenzied that Baldock's head was nearly severed.

(252)
Joel Rifkin was once sent to the solitary wing in prison for getting
into an argument with another inmate over who had killed the most
people. 

(253) Jeffrey Dahmer's apartment was so eventually so
full with victims and body parts that he put one body in the bath and
had to shower over it. According to some sources Dahmer had TWO bodies
in the shower in the end.
 
(254) In their 2016 report,
Radford University found that Australia had the second highest ratio
(that is to say the number of serial killers in relation to the
population) of serial killers after the United States. 

(255) Dennis Radar would sometimes take bodies of his victims to the local Christ Lutheran Church to photograph them. 

(256)
William Withey Gull, physician-in-ordinary to Queen Victoria, is often
lumped in with Ripper suspects. This is a blurring of fiction with
fact. Gull has been portrayed as responsible for the murders in a
number of works of Ripper fiction (most famously perhaps the brilliant
graphic novel From Hell by Alan Moore) but in reality was an old man
recovering from a heart attack at the time of the murders. Stephen
Knight’s book Jack the Ripper: The Final Solution is responsible for
the Jack the Ripper conspiracy that has Prince Albert Edward Victor and
Royal Physician Sir William Gull plus a Freemson conspiracy all
involved in the Whitechapel murders. Knight's book is entertaining but
more fiction than fact. 

(257) Dennis Nilsen liked to make mulled wine for his work colleagues at Christmas. 

(258) Ed Gein confessed to the killing of Mary Hogan - who had been missing since 1954. The police found her head on his farm. 

(259) Dennis Rader said he was planning his 'magnum opus' murder when he was captured. 

(260)
Radford University's 2016 report found that 42% of serial killer
victims were shot. 21% were strangled and 14% were stabbed. Radford
University's data suggested that only 7% of serial killers murdered
their victims by means of poison.

(261) Some children of serial
killers have expressed a fear that they might have some inherited some
crazy killing gene. Fortunately, being a serial killer is not
hereditary! 

(262) Randall Woodfield was not known to be
especially intelligent. He helped to seal his own fate by murdering an
ex-girlfriend. This gave the police a way to connect Woodfield to all
the murders they were investigating. He also made the elementary
mistake of using telephones and credit cards near the scenes of his
murders. 

(263) Dennis Nilsen's cooking pot was later put on display in the Crime Museum at Scotland Yard. 
 
(264)
Aileen Wuornos had an abusive upbringing at the hands of a strict
grandfather. She was homeless at fifteen and sold her body to survive.
Tired of the cold, she eventually hitchhiked to Florida and married a
rich man. The marriage lasted days. He put a restraining order on her
because Wournos would beat him up.

(265) In his book The Final
Truth, Donald Gaskins said that when he killed for the first time he
felt like he had suddenly discovered a perfect blueprint for his life.
Now he could rape and steal all he wanted and simply kill the victims
so they wouldn't be able to identify him.
 
(266) The police found a total of 74 polaroid photographs depicting dead victims in Jeffrey Dahmer's apartment. 

(267)
The police detective heading up the search for Jack the Stripper in the
1960s predicted that the case would be as famous as the Jack the Ripper
murders. He was obviously completely wrong about that. 

(268)
It is often suggested in studies that the desire to kill is something
that has been bubbling away beneath the surface for a while. Serial
killers do not suddenly wake up one day and decide to go and kill
someone. It is usually something they have thought about for a while
and maybe even planned in their mind. 

(269) Rillington Place
had its named changed to Ruston Close after the grisly exploits of John
Christie came to light. In 1970, the street was demolished to make way
for new housing. 

(270) Dennis Radar called his urge to kill Factor X. He said it was like a demon on his shoulder.
 
(271)
A local real estate magnate named Joseph Zilber raised money to buy
Jeffrey Dahmer's fridge, tools, and belongings after his trial so that
they could be destroyed. The community didn't want anyone to use
Dahmer's artefacts and affects as part of some macabre display or money
making scheme.

(272) The social workers who dealt with Ed Gein
at the mental institution said that he seemed like a very innocent,
friendly, and nice man in person.  

(273) The Golden State
Killer left items of jewelry he had stolen on the roofs of some of his
victim's houses. These items had obviously fallen out as he crawled
across houses. 

(274) When Dennis Nilsen was arrested and the
story of his murders broke, a Daily Mirror reporter rushed down to
Nilsen's old home at Melrose Avenue because he'd heard that the police
were going to search the garden there. The reporter spoke to a dog
walker who told him that his dog had uncovered some very strange bones
in the park that was close to Dennis Nilsen's old garden.

(275)
Ted Bundy's mother called him the greatest son in the world after he
was charged with the Florida murders. She was still in denial and
refused to believe that her son was a serial killer. 

(276) Henry Lee Lucas, Arthur Shawcross, and Randall Woodfield are among the killers who got married in prison.

(277) Edward Kemper took up pottery in prison. 

(278)
When he worked as a phlebotomist, Jeffrey Dahmer stole a vial of blood
and tried to drink it. He didn't like the taste though. 

(279)
Belle Gunness was a Norwegian woman who moved to the United states in
the late 19th century. She had a farm in Indiana but any men who went
to this farm were seemingly never seen again. Belle Gunness put an ad
in the paper looking for a husband but this was one ad you didn't want
to respond to. Her life and death is still shrouded in some mystery. In
1908 the farm burned down and the police found the remains of eleven
victims - which included Belle's children and a woman's head. Did Belle
die in the blaze or did she stage the whole thing to escape? The jury
is still out. 

(280) Zodiac was the name given to a killer who
operated in California in the 60s and 70s. The Zodiac Killer, who was
never found, claimed to have killed thirty people. The police still
periodically re-open the case if fresh information comes to light. Film
and TV depictions of serial killers often have a trope where the killer
leaves calling cards and fiendish puzzles for the police. This is
largely fiction - unless one counts 'posing' bodies as a calling card.
One of the few killers to leave puzzles in his wake though was The
Zodiac killer. He offered a code for the police and media to crack. The
Zodiac Killer targeted couples who were parked up in cars. He would
shoot both the man and woman. This suggested that he was an outcast in
society and was embittered and angered by seeing couples in love.
Interestingly, Zodiac seemed to be something of a weekend killer so
probably had a job. Zodiac suspects include Richard Gaikowski, who was
involved in an anti-police counterculture magazine and lived in the
area where the killings took place. Gaikowski had mental health
problems and was apparently seen at the funeral of one of the victims.
None of the Zodiac suspects though have been conclusively connected to
the murders and so the Zodiac killer's identity - for now at least -
remains a mystery. 

(281) Afton Burton (aka Star) was the young
woman who started contacting Charles Manson in prison and later became
engaged to him. She was only 17 when she first contacted him. Burton
described Manson as her idol and said she wanted to marry him. He
kicked the bucket though before this could happen.

(282) Jeffrey
Dahmer poured acid into the head of a victim named Konerak
Sinthasomphone. Sinthasomphone escaped and wandered the streets in a
daze. Tragically, some policemen who found Sinthasomphone then took him
back to Dahmer's apartment after Dahmer told them Sinthasomphone was
his intoxicated boyfriend. Dahmer’s neighbour Sandra Smith had alerted
the police to Konerak Sinthasomphone wandering the street in a daze.
The police officers in this incident were highly lackadaisical because
they didn't even bother to do a background check on Dahmer or take a
proper look in his apartment. They just handed the victim back to him
and left. John A. Balcerzak and Joseph P. Gabrish were the bungling
police officers who handed the dazed and confused victim Konerak
Sinthasomphone back to Jeffrey Dahmer and certain death. They were
dismissed from the police after an investigation but then appealed and
got reinstated. John A. Balcerzak and Joseph P. Gabrish, the police
officers who tragically handed victim Konerak Sinthasomphone back to
Jeffrey Dahmer, were caught on radio making homophobic comments and
joking about how they had reunited 'lovers' after the incident. 

(283)
Ed Gein asked for a slice of apple pie with cheese on top before he
would speak to investigators. When Travis Bickle orders apple pie with
cheese in the film Taxi Driver this is a reference to Ed Gein.

(284)
The Murder Accountability Project calculated that 15% of unsolved
strangulations in the United States from 2003 to 2015 occurred in
Chicago. 

(285) When he worked as a gravedigger, Peter Sutcfliffe used to steal items he found on the bodies. 

(286) The electric chair was first used in 1890. 

(287)
A film was actually made about Dennis Nilsen in 1989 called Cold Light
of Day. However, the film is so amateurish it was quickly forgotten.
Cold Light of Day was directed by Fhiona-Louise and features Bob Flag
as Nilsen (called Jordan March in the film though clearly based on
Nilsen). The film is a rather grim experience. It shows Nilsen/March
strangling people and boiling heads.

(288) "The night that we
arrested Fred West," said Tony Butler, the chief constable of
Gloucestershire Police at the time, "the TV crews were in Cromwell
Street and I remember on the Points West news, neighbours saying: No
no, the police have got this all wrong. Fred and Rose, lovely family
couple, lovely family people. And they clearly weren't."

(289)
Estibaliz Carranza, born in Mexico in 1978, is a Spanish-Mexican woman
who became known as The Ice Cream Killer for two murders she committed
in Austria. She moved to Spain as a child and went to college. Carranza
studied economics at the University of Barcelona. Her father was a
journalist and author. Carranza lived in Germany for a time and was an
intelligent women who spoke different languages. Red-haired and
attractive, Estibaliz Carranza seemed like a very unlikely killer at
first glance. Carranza eventually helped run an ice cream shop in
Vienna and murdered her husband Holger and later her lover Manfred
because she was frustrated that they hadn't made her pregnant (by a
quirk of fate though she was actually pregnant by another man at the
time of her arrest) and generally tired of both relationships. Both of
the victims were shot in the back of the head and then cut up with a
chainsaw in the apartment that served as a store room for the
Schleckeria ice cream parlour. The body parts were put in freezers and
then surround by air fresheners to disguise the smell. After she killed
Manfred and cut his body up, Estibaliz Carranza calmly went out to get
a manicure because of the damage done to her nails. When people
inquired about the whereabouts of her husband, Carranza told them he
had joined a Hari Krishna sect in India. She later discovered that her
husband's decapitated head was stuck to the bottom of the freezer so
she poured concrete over it. It was some routine maintenance work in
2011 that discovered the grisly secrets of the ice cream shop. Carranza
fled to Italy but was captured several days later. 

(290)
Jeffrey Dahmer's apartment building where he committed his murders was
demolished after his capture. No one wanted to live there anymore.

(291) Jeffrey Dahmer’s childhood home in Akron, Ohio, is still there. You can rent or buy this property. 
 
(292)
The address of John Wayne Gacy was 8213 W. Summerdale Ave. A new house
was built on the site. You can buy the house that stands there now for
about $459,000.

(293) Radford University's data concluded that
South Dakota has experienced the least amount of serial killer murders
in the United States. 

(294) Female serial killers are more likely to know their victims. 

(295)
Ted Bundy was something of an escape artist. During his trial at the
Pitkin County Courthouse in Aspen, Bundy jumped from the window of the
library when no one was looking and was a fugitive for six days before
he was captured. Unbelievably, Ted Bundy later escaped again. This time
he lost a tremendous amount of weight to get into a prison crawlspace.
He stole some clothes and posed as one of the staff before hitchhking
to Chicago. 

(296) The Stoneman was the name given to an
unidentified killer who murdered between thirteen and twenty-six
homeless people in Bombay from 1985 onwards. These were rather brutal
and (seemingly) random murders. The killer would simply find a homeless
person sleeping alone and then crush their heads with a large rock -
hence his true crime designation The Stoneman. Some estimates put the
number of victims at twenty-six. It took six murders before the local
police realised that they had a killer on their hands and that homeless
people were being targeted in this very harrowing way. Because this
killer was never captured if we don't know if the attacker was acting
alone or with others. One would think, at first glance, that these
murders were random and opportunistic but there is evidence that the
victims shared some connective tissue in that they were often without
relatives. Therefore there is a theory that the killer might have known
the local homeless community and some of the people who slept rough.
Why anyone would want to brutally murder homeless people in this way
remains a mystery though. 

(297) Jeffrey Dahmer said he would cut the noses off victims before he boiled the heads. 

(298)
In his confession to the police, Fred West complained that Rose West
had stuffed the body of one of his daughters in a dustbin. 

(299)
In 2005, a Japanese schoolgirl was arrested for poisoning her mother
with thallium. She had become obsessed with the story of Graham Young
after watching The Young Poisoner's Handbook.

(300) It is
obviously rather difficult to get a completely accurate picture on
serial killer statistics and details from all nations in the world. Not
all countries allow unfettered reporting on serial killer cases - even
to this day. In the old Soviet Union, cases of serial killers were
repressed by the authorities because it reflected badly on the
supposedly glorious and utopian Soviet communist system (contrast this
with the post-Soviet era - where we have many details about modern
Russian and Ukrainian serial killers). It's hard to know what, for
example, the true figures on serial killers are in secretive nations
like China. There have been cases involving serial killers in India
where little is known about the killer because the authorities did not
allow the trial to be covered by the media.

(301) Peter Moore
was born in 1940, in Kinmel Bay, in Conwy, Wales. Peter Moore is, even
by the standards of serial killers, a pretty odd case. Moore was a mild
mannered looking cinema manager who stabbed and killed four men in
1995. When he was asked why he had done the murders, Moore said it was
purely for fun and because he enjoyed them. Peter Moore was gay and at
least three of his victims were gay. This (rather predictably) led him
to being called names like The Gay Killer or The Gay Slasher. "When
driving around," said Moore, "I would sometimes notice someone walking
along the road late at night and I would stop and attack them. I would
assault them with a police truncheon and strike them on the body and
their heads many times. Usually I would be dressed as a policeman or in
a Nazi uniform or something similar, just to scare them. I heard that a
few of these men had been seriously injured after the attacks." Though
he confessed to the murders to the police, Moore then claimed that he
was covering up for the real killer. He said the real killer was named
Jason. It transpired the name Jason came from the hockey mask clad
machete wielding Jason Vorhees from the Friday the 13th films. Suffice
to say, Peter Moore was completely insane. Peter Moore was inevitably
jailed for life with no prospect of release. It is said that he became
friends with the late Harold Shipman in prison.

(302)
Christopher Scarver, who murdered Jeffrey Dahmer in prison, claimed
(rather dubiously) that Dahmer infuriated other inmates by manipulating
his food into the shape of human body parts. 

(303) Jack
Unterweger was an Austrian serial killer born in 1950. His was a story
so strange you couldn't make it up. In 1976 he was convicted for
murdering a sex worker and sent to prison. Unterweger wrote an
autobiography in prison where he talked about his awful childhood and
how he was now reformed and should be released. He attracted liberal
criminal reform supporters who were charmed by his book and in 1990 he
was released - becoming something of a celebrity and appearing on talk
shows. A film about him was soon planned and he became a journalist.
The only problem was that he wasn't really reformed. He soon started
killing again!

(304) Jeffrey Dahmer refused to eat people who had tattoos. 

(305)
Mary Bell is often cited as one of the youngest serial killers. She was
ten when she strangled two toddlers in the English city of Newcastle in
1968. It is debatable that two murders made Mary Bell a serial killer
but most experts believe she would almost certainly have killed again
if she hadn't been caught. Mary Bell had some of the traits we
associate with serial killers. She seemed to enjoy the attention the
murders brought to her area and even left a cryptic (if childish)
confession note in a local nursery. Mary, who was manipulative and
intelligent, also tried to pin the deaths on her best friend Norma.
Mary Bell was released from prison in her early twenties. She later got
married and had a child. 

(306) As a young man, John Wayne Gacy
worked as assistant precinct captain for a Democratic Party candidate
in his neighbourhood. He was once even introduced to the First Lady
Rosalynn Carter at a function for the Democratic Party.

(307)
Sean Vincent Gillis was born in Baton Rouge, Louisiana, in 1962. He
tends to be known as The Other Baton Rouge Killer (to avoid confusion
with another serial killer in that area around the same time called
Derrick Todd Lee). Gillis would usually rape the victims and then
strangle them with nylon. One victims had her breasts sliced off and an
arm severed. Gillis kept some body parts as mementoes and was found to
have dozens of explicit and gruesome photographs of his victims on his
computer. Gillis would sometimes photograph himself posing with the
bodies of the victims. He hacked off feet and hands and was also a
cannibal and necrophile. 

(308) Ian Brady translated books into braille while in prison. 

(309) Robert Yates, who killed 17 prostitutes in the 1990s, was a decorated National Guard helicopter pilot. 

(310)
The first actor to play Ted Bundy was Mark Harmon in the 1986 NBC
television film The Deliberate Stranger. The actor Robert Hays (who you
might know from the Airplane! comedy spoof films) was originally asked
to play Ted Bundy in The Deliberate Stranger but felt it was a
distasteful project and wanted no part of it.

(311) In a 2021
interview, the actor Rupert Everett said of Dennis Nilsen - "He was in
the pub that I used to go to. Yeah, so I could be dead. He used to go
the Coleherne, which was this leather bar. I didn’t know him but he was
there. I mean, that’s where he got two or three of his victims from."
Everett said it was entirely possible that he might even have met some
of Nilsen's victims in the pub and spoken to them. 

(312) John Wayne Gacy told people he had sewer problems if they noticed any foul odour in his house. 

(313)
In 2016, a man in England named David Parsons attacked a prostitute
with a clawhammer. The man said he wanted to emulate his hero Peter
Sutcliffe and become a serial killer. He was detained under the mental
health act and locked up indefinitely. 

(314) The fact that
Gary Ridgway was the Green River Killer was only deduced in 2001 when
his DNA (from a sample taken by the police in the 1980s) was matched to
DNA found at one of the Green River Killer crime scenes. Ridgway was
working in a factory at the time and happily married. In 2003, he
pleaded guilty to 48 murders as part of a bargain that spared him the
death penalty. 

(315) Dennis Nilsen had two budgerigars in his prison cell. They were named Tweetles and Hamish.  

(316) William Bonin once murdered his best friend simply because his friend was irritating him that day. 

(317)
Dorángel Vargas was known as the Hannibal Lecter of the Andes. He
killed at least fourteen people in the mid 1990s in Venezuela. Vargas
was homeless and preyed on victims in a local park. He confessed to
eating eleven of his victims. Vargas said he did not eat women or
children because they were too pure. He also declined to eat overweight
people because he said fatty flesh was less healthy. 

(318) Ed Gein told the police that he never had sex with the bodies he dug up because they smelled too bad.

(319) Dental records were used to identify the skulls found in Jeffrey Dahmer's apartment. 

(320)
When he was a Green River Killer suspect in the 1980s, Gary Ridgway
passed a police polygrath test in which he said he was innocent.

(321)
After he escaped from prison, Ted Bundy ended up in Florida where he
supported himself by stealing credit cards. He rented a room and
pretended his name was Chris Hagen. 

(322) The American serial
killer Samuel Little only killed black women because he felt they were
more 'invisible' and forgotten in society than white women.

(323)
Mary Ann Geering was born Mary Ann Plumb in 1800. She is known as The
Guestling Murderess. At the age of eighteen, Mary married a man named
Richard Geering and they eventually lived in Guestling, Sussex. There
were soon children in the marriage and Richard worked as a labourer. In
1846, Richard Geering was left £20 by a relative. That doesn't sound
like much but it was a windfall to a cash strapped couple in that era.
Around this time Mary and Richard's oldest son became a widow and moved
in with Richard and Mary. All three sons ended up at the cottage. In
1848, Richard Geering suddenly fell ill and died five days later. The
cause of death was not deemed to be suspicious at the time. What was
suspicious though was what happened next to the relatives who were all
living in Mary's cottage. Twenty-one year-old George also fell ill with
a mysterious but awful sickness and perished soon after. Then
twenty-six year James was struck by identical symptoms and expired in
similar fashion. The youngest of the sons, teenage Benjamin Geering,
then fell ill in similar fashion. The doctors who treated Benjamin
decided to move him away from his mother and once they did this his
condition began to improve and he eventually recovered. They of course
noted this and came to an obvious conclusion. Mary Ann Geering had
plainly been bumping off members of her own family. 

The bodies
of Mary's relatives were exhumed and found to have ingested arsenic and
opium. At the trial it was established the victims fell ill not long
after eating food prepared by Mary. It was also established that Mary
had purchased arsenic and poison despite having no rat problem in her
house. One of the most important pieces of evidence - and one that
really sealed the fate of Mary - was that it was established that Mary
Ann Geering had emptied the bank savings account of Richard Geering
almost as soon as he had died. It seemed fairly evident that a
financial motive for these murders was apparent. Mary confessed to the
murders in the end and was sentenced to death by hanging. Her surviving
son Benjamin testified against her at the trial. Mary is said to have
shown remorse for her crimes and did not seek to pretend she was
innocent. Mary Ann Geering was executed by hanging at Lewes on August
the 21st, 1849. She was 49 years-old.

(324) One of John Wayne
Gacy's methods of getting his victims handcuffed was to pretend he was
demonstrating a magic trick. He would escape from the handcuffs himself
and then challenge the victim to do the same. Gacy would usually try
and get his victims a bit drunk for this game. By the time they
realised it was not a game and that Gacy was dangerous it was all too
late. They were already helpless.

(325) After he was arrested in
1983, the Daily Mirror reported that a mystery female friend of Dennis
Nilsen had telephoned him two days before he was taken into custody.
The woman was alleged to have packed a suitcase for Nilsen. Although
the police asked this woman to come to the police station she never
turned up. 

(326) Jeffrey Dahmer once planned to kill a jogger
who ran past his building each day. The jogger stopped running past his
house though. 

(327) John Wayne Gacy is said to have used some
sort of chemical dust in his (failed) attempt to disguise the smell
coming from his crawlspace.

(328) Joel Rifkin bought some 55
gallon drums in which to store victims. Body parts in a steel drum were
later found by a member of the public when they washed ashore.

(329)
Dennis Nilsen said he would put underwear, socks, and a vest on the
bodies of his dead victims when he brought them out to watch television
with. 

(330) More than 1,000 pieces of flesh and bone were
found by forensic teams and police officers at the two London flats
Dennis Nilsen had lived in. 

(331) When he was a child, Ed
Kemper would cut the heads off his sister's dolls and play a game where
he pretended he was putting them in a gas chamber. 

(332) Believe it or not, the guillotine was used in France to execute the worst criminals until 1977. 

(333)
The Boston Strangler case involved 13 women (of varying ages) being
murdered in Boston between 1962 and 1964. The killer used a nylon
stocking to strangle many of his victims. Albert DeSalvo was convicted
for the Boston Strangler murders. DeSalvo may have raped as many as 300
women and confessed to the Strangler killings. There are those though
who feel the murders were too eclectic in nature to have all been
carried out by one man. 

(334) Ed Gein would dance around his farm at night wearing his human skin suits and mask. 

(335) Ted Bundy's aunt once awoke to find Bundy, still a child at the time, placing knives around her sleeping form.

(336)
Dennis Nilsen would sometimes lose track of where he had left body
parts and was surprised once to open a cupboard door and find a pair of
severed legs inside.

(337) Ever wonder why Ted Bundy absolutely
adored the Volkswagen Beetle? He even stole one of these cars when he
escaped from prison. Bundy liked this car because you could take out
the passenger seat (and thus make it easier to get a body or person
into the car and put it in the back seat). 

(338) Ed Gein fashioned some skulls into serving bowls. 

(339)
Audiobooks that Edward Kemper has narrated include Dune, Book 4: God
Emperor of Dune, Flowers in the Attic, Star Wars (yes, Star Wars), The
Glass Key, and If Tomorrow Comes.

(340) Richard Ramirez was a fan of the Marvel comics character Iron Man. He used to do Iron Man sketches in prison. 

(341)
Ed Gein drove a 1949 Ford sedan. After Gein's arrest, an enterprising
man purchased the car and charged the public 25 cents to have their
picture taken with the vehicle.

(342) Richard Chase was so insane he thought he would turn into powder and dust if he didn't drink blood on a regular basis. 

(343)
John Wayne Gacy actually had two different personas when he dressed up
as a clown. Sometimes he was Pogo the Clown and sometimes he was
Patches the Clown. These two 'characters' had their own costume. Gacy
told the authorities that he had four personalites. The contractor,
clown, politician, and then plain Jack Hanley. Jack Hanley, said Gacy,
was the serial killer. 

(344) The Jobcentre where Dennis Nilsen worked in Denmark Street is now a branch of the Fernadez and Wells cafe chain.

(345)
The Hillside Stranglers were cousins Kenneth Bianchi and Angelo Buono
Jr. They are believed to have killed ten people as a duo and brought
terror to Hollywood and Los Angeles in the late 1970s. The pair would
dress as policeman and target vulnerable woman. This was a sadistic and
sick duo who would rape, torture, and inject their victims with strange
drugs. The Hillside Stranglers once let the daughter of the actor Peter
Lorre go because they calculated that murdering the relative of a
celebrity would bring too much unwelcome attention to their activities.

(346)
When they were searching for the Yorkshire Ripper, the police received
audio tapes alleged to be from the killer to Chief Constable George
Oldfield - the officer in charge of the case. The man in the tape had
an accent native to north-east England and so the police moved some of
their resources from Yorkshire to Wearside. Many blame the vanity of
Oldfield (whom the tapes were addressed to) for the police taking the
tapes seriously. They were a hoax. The hoaxer of the 'Wearside Jack'
tapes was John Samuel Humble from Sunderland. They only identified him
in 2008. He got eight years in prison.

(347) On his last day at
work as a civil servant, Dennis Nilsen wore a scarf that had belonged
to his last victim Stephen Sinclair. 

(348) Some people threw
eggs at the house of Jeffrey Dahmer's elderly grandmother when he was
arrested. This was completely ridiculous and cruel. Dahmer's
grandmother obviously had nothing to do with his crimes. 

(349)
When the police searched Ed Gein's house they found his kitchen full of
maggots. They could not fathom how anyone could live in such squalor. 
  
(350) When he was a teenage army recruit, Dennis Nilsen went on camping trips to the New Forest and Stonehenge.

(351)
Wendy Patrickus, who was one of Jeffrey Dahmer's defence lawyers, was
only in her twenties when she represented Dahmer. It has been suggested
in documentaries that her selection was very deliberate by the defence
because to see Dahmer sitting next to a young attractive women in court
made him seem slightly less weird and scary. 

(352) A homeless man looking for food in the bin outside of Anthony Hardy's flat found a pair of human legs. 

(353)
In the past it was sometimes common for those with criminal convictions
for sexual crimes or violence to be able to hide their past history. In
the late 1960s for example, John Wayne Gacy sexually assaulted a
fifteen year-old boy named Donald Vorhees. Gacy was sentenced to ten
years in prison for underage sexual assault but he was such a model
prisoner he was out on parole after a couple of years. The authorities,
sadly, seemed to somewhat lose track of Gacy after his release. He was
able to go back into the community without it being public knowledge
that he was a convicted sex offender. Gacy, famously, even dressed up
as a clown to entertain the local children in his community. 

(354)
Ed Gein's farm burned down after his arrest (it was said to be accident
but you never know). The locals were very happy when this happened
because they didn't want the farm to attract curious sightseers.

(355) Jeremy Renner said he had no idea who Jeffrey Dahmer was before he played him in a 2002 movie.  

(356) Donald Henry Gaskins had a bumper sticker that said - I haul dead people. 

(357)
When he had bonfires at Melrose Avenue, Dennis Nilsen always had to
tell curious children to keep back in case they might see any human
remains or bones. 

(358) Dennis Rader studied criminal justice in college. 

(359) Edward Kemper said he picked up over 150 hitchhikers without harming them in the slightest before he started killing.

(360)
Jeffrey Dahmer has been referenced in more songs than any other serial
killer. Around sixty or so. Not even Ted Bundy or Jack the Ripper can
match this. 

(361) When Jeffrey Dahmer was at Ohio State
college he lived in Morril Tower - a hall of residence. Morril Tower is
still there. 

(362) When he's narrating audiobooks, Edward Kemper sounds alarmingly like Earl Hamner Jr doing a voiceover on The Waltons.

(363) Ted Bundy became a Hindu in prison after his conviction. 

(364)
The trial of Richard Ramirez was the most expensive Los Angeles had
ever seen at the time thanks to its slow pace and jury troubles. 

(365)
John Haigh's gloves and apron (which he used to protect himself from
burns from the acid bath) are displayed at New Scotland Yard’s infamous
Black Museum.

(366) The 1970s saw a serial killer 'explosion' in
America. Theories on this include mind-altering drugs and the trauma of
Vietnam. It could be though that there was simply more reporting of
such crimes. More news channels and live news naturally meant that
serial killers got more coverage.

(367) Richard Ramirez would sometime daub occult symbols in the houses where he had killed. 

(368) Dennis Nilsen would sometimes trawl through Piccadilly Circus looking for men to talk to and take home. 

(369) Ted Bundy grew up thinking that his mother was his sister. 

(370)
Pyromania is seen as an early warning sign that someone has the
capacity to murder. Acts of early arson are often cited as a signal
that someone might become a serial killer. Arthur Shawcross is one of a
number of killers who liked to start fires in his youth. David
Berkowitz was also said to be obsessed with pyromania as a child and
responsible for starting many fires.

(371) In their attempts to
capture the Son of Sam, the police set up traps which consisted of
parked cars with dummies of a couple inside. 

(372) The Angel
Makers of Nagyrév were a group of woman in Hungry who poisoned to death
a large collection of husbands in the village of Nagyrév. How many they
killed is not known for sure. Some estimates claim they poisoned 300
men. Even the most conservative estimates though would put the number
of victims at around forty or fifty. The ringleader of this group was a
midwife named Júlia Fazekas. At the time, the tradition in this village
was that the parents of women chose the husband for their daughter.
This meant that teenage brides were married off to men that they hadn't
chosen themselves and in many cases didn't like very much. It was Júlia
Fazekas who came up with a solution to the problem of unhappy wives in
arranged marriages. She suggested they simply murder their husbands by
boiling flypaper and skimming off the arsenic residue. The women in the
village soon got the hang of the poisoning lark the persuasive Fazekas
had proposed and local husbands began dropping like (ahem) flies. There
was only one problem though. They didn't stop at husbands. Soon they
were poisoning parents, lovers, and even sons. Generally anyone that
annoyed them got a dose of arsenic. 

(373) The police suspected
that Jeffrey Dahmer had been eating some of his victims even before he
told them. The reason for this is that they found literally no real
food in his apartment at all when he was captured. All he had in the
fridge was bags of human flesh. It wasn't unusual for Dahmer to have no
food in the house though. He usually went out to fast food joints and
diners for his meals. Dahmer's father said that when he visited his son
there was usually nothing but milk and cans of soda in the fridge. 

(374)
Ian Huntley is a notorious and much despised true crime figure in
Britain for killing the ten year-old girls Holly Wells and Jessica
Chapman in the village of Soham in Cambridgeshire in 2003. Huntley was
the 28 year-old caretaker at Soham Village College - the school that
Holly and Jessica attended. Huntley told the police he was the last
person to speak to the girls before they went missing because they had
walked past his house on their way to a shop to buy some sweets.
Huntley was shrewd. He volunteered this information because he thought
it would make him less suspicious. In reality he had murdered the girls
(in circumstances which remain vague because he never confessed or
discussed the murders). Huntley lingered on at the scene of the crime
in the middle of police investigations and escalating media scrutiny.
In this one might argue that he had little choice. To flee would be to
draw suspicion. He even ended up as a fairly regular person for
television news crews to interview. Huntley was meek and articulate
when he spoke to the media. He was perfectly calm and even conveyed a
projection of simulated empathy. There was a very small window in time
where Ian Huntley might possibly have felt as if he was in control of
events in Soham. He might even have felt he stood a slim chance of
getting away with his crimes. It was often said of Ian Huntley that he
seemed to enjoy the attention when he lingered on in Soham after
murdering Holly Wells and Jessica Chapman. Huntley gave television
interviews for the nightly news and was prominent at community meetings
and candlelight vigils. He seemed to be taking satisfaction in the
(ultimately mistaken) belief that he had pulled the wool over
everyone's eyes.

 When the two girls in Soham went missing
and Ian Huntley was interviewed on television, no one watching at home
had a sudden sixth sense that he was the person responsible. Huntley
was not overtly and obviously suspicious. Huntley had managed to move
the bodies of Holly and Jessica after he had killed them to a quiet
country footpath near RAF Lakenheath. He had then tried to burn the
bodies to destroy the evidence. Ironically, it was Huntley's television
interviews that gave him away. During one television news interview,
Ian Huntley was interviewed outside of his house with his car next to
him. Police detectives who watched this interview noticed that Huntley
had new tyres on his car. The tyres were very clean and sparkling. They
were clearly brand new. The area around Soham was quite rural and
featured a lot of footpaths and roads that had very distinctive pebbles
and sand. Huntley was trying to hide the fact that he'd driven up these
backroads (with the bodies of Holly and Jessica). Thankfully, the net
closed around this awful man quite quickly in the end and he was taken
into custody. Huntley was charged with murder and given two life
sentences. The clips of Huntley on the news now are fascinating in
retrospect. It's amazing, given the circumstances, how calm and
collected he was. 

(375) It's hard to say why Ted Bundy became
the most famous of the many American serial killers. More than anything
perhaps it was Bundy's ability to blend into the background. Those that
knew Bundy found him to be alarmingly normal. He was friendly and good
looking and always wore pressed shirts and slacks. There was nothing
about Bundy that immediately screamed SERIAL KILLER. The gulf between
Bundy's public face and his secret life was therefore all the more
harrowing.

(376) When human remains were found in the drains
next to his building, Dennis Nilsen told office colleagues that he if
he wasn't at work the next day it would be because he was either dead
or in prison. They all thought he was joking and laughed.

(377) When the police asked Dennis Nilsen how many bodies he had under the floorboards he replied - "I didn’t do a stock check."

(378) Jeffrey Dahmer had two hands and human genitalia in his kettle when the police searched his apartment.

(379)
In 1974, a woman named Carol DaRonch had a remarkable escape from Ted
Bundy. At the Fashion Place Mall in Salt Lake City, Bundy pretended to
be a police detective and told DaRonch her car had been broken into so
she she went to the car park with him. Bundy managed to get DaRonch
into the car and cuff one of her hands but she managed to get a door
open and fight him off. Bundy pulled out a gun but DaRonch - who was
obviously terrified - managed to flee. 

(380) The police found
a collection of dolls in the home of Joachim Kroll. He said he used
these dolls to try out techniques for abducting and restraining
children.

(381) The Hillside Stranglers put one victim in the
boot of her car after she was killed and then pushed the vehicle over a
cliff.

(382) Around 25% of serial killers murder with a partner or accomplice as opposed to killing alone. 

(383)
There was criticism of the jury selection for Jeffrey Dahmer's trial
because most of his victims were black and yet the jury was almost
completely white.

(384) The bodies in John Wayne Gacy's
crawlspace were so fused together it took two years to sort them out
into distinct skeletons. 

(385) Dennis Nilsen's last flat was
in a very grotty and squalid condition when he was arrested. It was
absolutely filthy with plates and empty food containers piled up. The
oven was covered in dirt and grease and everything was old, tattered,
rusted, and falling apart. The police found mothballs in one of the
bags containing remains of Nilsen's victims. Mothballs are small balls
of chemical pesticide and deodorant used when storing clothing and
other articles susceptible to damage from mould. 

(386) People
with an interest in true crime are often confused at how killers like
Jeffrey Dahmer and Dennis Nilsen lived in apartment buildings and yet
no one noticed the smell! The only explanation for Nilsen is that he
eventually lived in what was essentially an attic room. 

(387)
Kieran Kelly was born 1930 in Ireland. He moved to England in the early
1950s. It was in England that his crimes took place so one could (at a
pinch) classify him as a British serial killer. Kelly picked up various
menial jobs and was a heavy drinker. He was a shabby and distinctive
looking man - and also a highly dangerous one too. In 1969 he was
arrested for an armed burglary and spent some time in Broadmoor. His
mental health was precarious to say the least. Kelly's first murder is
believed to have taken place in 1975. The elderly victim was Hector
Fisher - who was stabbed multiple times. Two years later, Kelly
strangled a man that was sleeping on a grave that he liked to use
himself. Kelly was a transient sort of character who often slept rough
and his victims were usually of this lifestyle too. Kelly is believed
to have targeted gay people because of a dislike he had for them. Kelly
was probably gay himself so obviously struggled with his sexuality. In
1977, Kelly killed 68-year-old Maurice Weighly. The victim was found in
Soho with horrendous injuries and mutilations on his body. Kelly was
found in the area with blood splattered clothes by the police and
arrested. Another transient told the police that Kelly had just killed
someone. Believe it or not Kelly was found not guilty at the trial
because the main witness was deemed to be a drunken tramp (they didn't
put in those precise politically incorrect terms but that was what they
were really saying) and unreliable by Kelly's QC. Kelly later said he
killed the 'tramp' in question for testifying against him in court. 

In
1983 a man was allegedly pushed onto the tracks at London's Kensington
Station but managed to survive. Kelly was charged with this attack but
cleared in the end. Inevitably though, Kieran Kelly was soon back in
the orbit of the police because of theft and drunkeness. While in
custody for these offences he killed another inmate by garrotting him.
This was at Clapham police station. Kelly then confessed to five
murders and was sentenced to life imprisonment in 1984. This is a man
who should have been locked away long before. Kieron Kelly was simply a
vile and vicious man and best forgotten. Kelly died in prison in 2001.
That wasn't the end of the story though. Former acting detective
constable Geoff Platt claimed in his book London Underground Serial
Killer: The Life of Kieran Kelly that Kelly spent decades pushing
people onto train tracks on the underground and might have killed as
many as thirty people. The story goes that the police suppressed the
facts of these attacks because they didn't want to create a panic and
feared that people might stop using the tube if they knew there was
some lunatic roaming from station to station randomly pushing people
onto the lines. Kelly is alleged to have confessed to some tube murders
where he apparently knew of details never revealed to the public and
only known to the police. Platt's conclusions were disputed though by
Irish filmmaker Robert Mulhern - who made a documentary about Kelly. He
believed that Kelly only killed about five or six people. Mulhern's
research led him to suspect that Kelly was a drunk and fantasist who
embellished the amount of murders he had done because he thought it
would make him famous and more notorious. 

(388) Walter Sickert
is a recurring Jack the Ripper suspect. This is perhaps inevitable as a
consequence of his strange paintings and the fact that he was
apparently fond of sharing lurid Ripper tales at parties. The crime
writer Patricia Cornwell wrote a book in which she argued that Walter
Sickert was Jack the Ripper. The general consensus is that Patricia
Cornwell's insistence that Jack the Ripper was Walter Sickert doesn't
really hold water. She claims, for example, that Sickert was angered by
his impotence. However, we know that Sickert committed adultery on his
wife, had many mistresses, and once had a child out of wedlock. 

(389) Robert Pickton was found to have a dildo on the barrel of his revolver as a silencer.

(390)
Anthony Hardy, aka the Camden Ripper, lived at 4, Hartland House. After
Hardy's conviction, Camden Council said it was not viable to demolish
the whole block because a lot of people lived there. What they did
instead was spend £20,000 renovating and changing the flat that Hardy
lived in. 

(391) David Berkowitz was finally captured thanks to
a woman named Cacilia Davis. Davis told the police of an unsettling
experience where a creepy man in Yonkers seemed to be watching her as
she walked her dog. She had run away in the end and he fired a few
shots at her with a gun as she fled. The police logged every car
ticketed in that area and one of them was a vehicle registered to
Berkowitz. When they searched the car they found a rifle, maps of New
York, and ammunition. They even found a 'Son of Sam' letter addressed
to Police Inspector Timothy Dowd. When they then went to the home of
Berkowitz they found it covered in occult graffiti.

(392) The
last thing ever eaten by Jeffrey Dahmer before he was killed in prison
was a toasted cheese sandwich. This was a very run of the mill last
meal for one of history's most notorious cannibals!

(393) In
1830, a criminal named Edward Broughton was transported from England to
Tasmania (then known as Van Diemen’s Land) in Australia to work in a
penal colony. Broughton ended up on a work party of five convicts.
There was only one police constable in charge of the party and the
prisoners attacked him and escaped. The men had an axe (which they had
stolen from their work party) and trekked through the wilderness in
search of food. They were eventually exhausted and starving. Broughton
decided they would simply have to eat one of the convicts. As a
consequence, Richard Hutchinson (who was convicted for horse theft) was
murdered by Broughton with the axe and his body was roasted over a
fire. Broughton made a pact with a teenage convict in the party named
Patrick Fagan. They both watched over one another while the other was
asleep. Broughton kept a firm grip on the precious axe. The axe gave
him power over the group. William Coventry, the oldest of the convicts,
was chosen to be the next victim when they ran out of food again. He
was killed with the axe and his flesh roasted over another fire. The
men ate as much as they could and then stuffed the remaining human
flesh in their pockets for later. The convicts continued their trek and
thoughts turned to who would be next to eat. Broughton was asked to
kill Fagan but he refused to allow the death his friend. The matter was
taken out of his own hands though when one of the remaining convicts
named Matthew Macavoy murdered Fagan with the axe when Broughton was
asleep. Broughton and Macavoy cooked the body and had a large meal.
Broughton and Macavoy gave themselves up a few days later when they
reached an outpost. In 1832 they were hung for murder and cannibalism.
Broughton made a full confession. 

(394) It has been estimated in some studies that only around 22% of serial killers use firearms when they kill. 

(395) Ted Bundy was a compulsive thief. There were times in his life when almost everything he owned was stuff he had stolen. 

(396)
The Manchester Canal Pusher is an alleged serial killer said to be
active modern day Manchester, England. The killer in question, as his
name would suggest, is alleged to randomly push people into one of the
many canals in the city's waterways. The legend goes that the
mysterious canal pusher has pushed dozens of people into Manchester
canals and a large number of these people died as a consequence. The
canals in Manchester are surprisingly deep, freezing cold at the best
times (let alone alone the winter - when they are ABSOLUTELY
perishing), and don't always have spots where you can easily pull
yourself back up to safety. To state the obvious, these canals are
potentially very dangerous so if someone unexpectedly pushed you into
one at night in the freezing cold you could be in a lot of trouble -
especially if you can't swim very well. First of all, you would be in
shock and probably panic, you'd be frozen, it might be dark too so you
wouldn't be able to see very well, and with all this going on you'd
have to find sufficient strength and wits to locate a logical place to
pull yourself back up to dry land. What if, on top of all of this, you
had just painted the town red and were completely sozzled and drunk to
boot? You really would be in desperate trouble wouldn't you? The canal
system stretches for about ten miles through the heart of Manchester.
If you spend time in the city centre you are never too far from this
water system. Those canals are all over the place. The legend of this
alleged killer gained fresh traction in 2015 when The Daily Star
(admittedly not the most high-brow or believable of publications)
published a two page article about the mysteriously high number of
deaths attributed to Manchester's canals. The basic thrust of the
article was that 61 people had died in the canals since 2006 and this
was highly suspicious because (so went the gist of the article) surely
not all of these deaths could have been mere accidents. What if someone
was deliberately pushing them in? 

(397) Christopher Scarver,
the man who killed Jeffrey Dahmer in prison, suggested to the media
that the prison guards left him alone with Dahmer on purpose because
they wanted Dahmer dead. 

(398) Ed Gein was especially close to
his mother Augusta Wilhelmine - a bond that would leave him in a
mentally fragile state when she died. The family lived on an isolated
155-acre farm in the town of Plainfield in Waushara County. Ed Gein,
and his brother Henry, only left the farm to go to school. Their mother
was deeply religious and very strict. The two boys were not encouraged
to make friends and had it drummed into them that the world was a
wicked place they should avoid as much as possible (lest they be
infected by its evil). George Gein, the father, died in 1940. Ed and
Henry had to do more on the farm after his death and Ed also picked up
work as a sort of handyman around town. Ed Gein was considered to be
rather odd by the locals but seemed essentially harmless. He was even
used as a babysitter on occasion. Henry, in contrast to Ed, eventually
started to find life on the farm dull and constrictive. He had met a
woman and planned on moving out. Henry felt that Ed's relationship with
their mother was becoming unhealthy. In 1944 there was a mysterious
tragedy when Ed and Henry were burning vegetation on the farm and Henry
was later found dead. However, there were no burns on his body. It was
presumed to be heart failure or suffocation from the fumes but -
retrospectively - it seems very plausible that Ed might have killed
Henry. Henry is said to have angered Ed by comments he made about their
mother - a fact which supplies the most likely motive. 

(399)
Marion Albert Pruett was an American serial killer who killed at least
five people. He was killed by lethal injection in Cummins Unit,
Arkansas in 1999. For his last meal on death row, Marion Albert Pruett
requested four Whoppers from Burger King, a stuffed crust pizza from
Pizza Hut, fries, fried eggplant, fried squash, fried okra, a pecan
pie, and Pepsi. Pruett had originally asked for roast duck but the
prison he was in declined to cook this.

(400) Joseph James
DeAngelo said he called his urge to kill 'Jerry'. It was like a demon
on his shoulder. Other killers have said something similar. 

(401) Jane Toppan was known as Jolly Jane to her colleagues because she was always laughing and smiling. 

(402)
Ted Bundy had a custom of killing in the headlights of his car or
during a full moon. He liked to see exactly what he was doing. 

(403)
Plans to make feature films about the Moors Murders (believe it or not
the American film director William Friedkin was once attached to a
Moors Murders film) and the Yorkshire Ripper were shelved in the end
because they were deemed too controversial.

(404) Joseph James
DeAngelo (aka The Golden State Killer) was a police officer in Auburn.
Many at the time suspected a police officer was the killer because the
killer seemed to be savvy when it came to forensic evidence and
covering his tracks. DeAngelo was kicked out of the police in 1979
after he was caught shoplifting. He later became a mechanic. 

(405)
The strange phenomenon where woman write to incarcerated serial killers
- or even end up marrying them - is known as hybristophilia. It seems
that hybristophilia clouds any sense of logic or taste. Women (and
sometimes men) are fascinated by serial killers and even become
overwhelmed by the desire to meet them and look after them. They
rationalise this conduct by refusing to believe the killer is guilty or
simply tell themselves they are doing a kind deed to someone who is
lonely and an outcast in society. No matter how awful the killer is,
you can guarantee that killer has recieved fan mail and that there are
probably women out there who would be perfectly willing to meet them
and, in some cases, even marry them.

(406) Neighbours of Jeffrey
Dahmer say they could often hear drilling coming from his apartment.
They just presumed he was putting up some shelves or something.

(407)
When he was in the British Army, Dennis Nilsen's regiment once took
part in a parade in front of Her Majesty the Queen and Field Marshal
Montgomery.

(408) Jeffrey Dahmer was baptized in a prison infirmary whirlpool. 

(409)
Tamara Ivanyutina was born in the Ukrainian SSR in 1841. Ivanyutina has
a small if rather unwelcome place in history as she was the last woman
to be executed in the Soviet Union. The pretty odd thing about Tamara
Ivanyutina is that most of her family seemed to be serial killers. If
you got on the wrong side of them they would simply slip some thallium
into your food and drink. Tamara's parents are said to have once
poisoned a cousin for the high crime of spreading some idle gossip
about them. The family as a collective are said to have poisoned over
forty people and around thirteen of these incidents turned out to be
fatal. As for Tamara alone, she is generally credited with nine solo
murders. She killed her first husband so she could have his apartment
and when she got married again she killed her father-in-law because she
wanted his house. Poisoning was considered to be something of a must
have skill in the Ivanyutina family. Tamara even tutored her sister
Nina in the art of poisoning because her sister had an annoying husband
she wanted to bump off. 

(410) John Wayne Gacy had two hand
made clown suits which were both seized by the authorities when he was
arrested. One of those suits was later sold by someone for $25,000 and
then somehow ended up in the National Crime Museum. 

(411) Mark
Hobson was born in Wakefield in 1969. There wasn't really anything in
Hobson's background which suggested he was going to become a violent
killer. He was a relatively normal boy and his father was a manager at
a local pit (in those days the coal industry still provided a lot of
jobs in Yorkshire). Hobson even got married when he was in his early
twenties and had a child and stepchildren. His wife said he was a
perfectly normal husband but then began to go off the rails at some
point for some unknown reason. Hobson began drinking and taking drugs
and neglecting his family. Hobson's occupations included working in a
power station and a stint as a binman. In 2002, Hobson stabbed a man
several times in Selby. The man was alleged to be a romantic rival who
had designs on the same woman as Hobson. It was a horrific attack done
in broad daylight but Hobson did not even get sent to prison as a
result and only received community punishment. In light of his later
crimes, this was obviously a very big and very tragic mistake. It seems
bizarre that you can stab someone in an attempted murder and avoid
going to prison. There was also an incident in 2003 where Hobson held a
knife to a man's eye. In 2004, Hobson was living with a young woman
named Claire Sanderson. On the 10th of July he murdered Claire
Sanderson at a flat in the village of Camblesforth. Claire was struck
nearly twenty times with a hammer and then throttled. He then wrapped
her in plastic bags. There was no sign of any sexual abuse. It was
purely violence. A week later, Claire's twin sister Diane visited the
flat and was killed by Hobson. She was struck with a hammer and then
tortured with a razor blade. In this murder there definitely was sign
of sexual abuse. Hobson tied her up and bit one of her nipples off. The
next day, Hobson murdered an elderly couple, James and Joan Britton, at
their home in Strensall, York. This was a sickening and cowardly
attack. James Britton was actually a Spitfire pilot during the war. The
Brittons were both stabbed in the back by Hobson. Mark Hobson was
arrested on the 25th of July while at a petrol station. He was the
obvious prime suspect in the murder of Claire and Diane so was
thankfully not that difficult to catch. He confessed to all four
murders and was sentenced to life in prison in 2005. 

(412)
Dennis Nilsen was a union representative for the civil service. Nilsen
was said to be a very demanding union rep. He helped to organise the
picket of Garners steak houses in 1979. Nilsen was famously pedantic
and dogged in his duties as a union rep. He could usually be relied on
to make any dispute worse rather than better. Nilsen would leave London
now and again to attend trade union conferences around the country.
This was later tragic for his third victim Martyn Duffey because they
met at Euston Station when Nilsen was on the way home from a conference.

(413)
Oba Chandler was a killer executed for three murders he committed in
Florida in 1989. This was an especially heartless crime. Chandler had
met a female tourist who was on vacation in Florida with her two
teenage daughters. Chandler took them out on a cruise and then threw
them into the sea one by one tied up in ropes with cement weights.
Chandler is widely believed to have been responsible for other unsolved
murders. 

(414) The Candian serial killer Robert Pickton
claimed to have killed 49 people between 1983 and 2002. He fed some of
his victims to the pigs on his farm. 

(415) When he was in
prison, Jeffrey Dahmer got some nutty letters from racists and Nazis
congratulating him for killing black people. 

(416) Stephen
Shaun Griffiths became known as the Crossbow Cannibal. He killed three
prostitutes in Bradford from 2008 to 2010. Griffiths was not really a
cannibal although he was supposed to have fired a crossbow bolt at one
victim. Griffiths pleaded guilty to all three murders. The remains of
one victim have yet to be found. Griffiths would throw the bodies and
remains in a river. Believe it or not, Stephen Shaun Griffiths was
studying at Bradford University for a doctorate in criminology.

(417)
Hammersmith in London was the scene of a number of murders in 1964 and
1965. The killer became known as Jack the Stripper because the murder
victims were prostitutes. However, despite a huge police operation, the
killer was never found and the murders remain a mystery. One of the
more outlandish and bizarre theories (which, believe it or not, has
even been the basis of a book) is that the killer was the world
champion boxer turned actor Freddie Mills. The victims were nearly all
in their twenties and are believed to have been killed in private
before their bodies were dumped in a public place. Chief Superintendent
John Du Rose was in charge of the investigation for Scotland Yard and
had six-hundred police officers involved in the search for Jack the
Stripper. They set up observation posts in a 24 square mile area of
London and questioned thousands of potential suspects and yet -
remarkably - they never found the killer. 

(418) Rose West is
one of only three British women to have ever been handed a full life
tariff along with Moors Murderer Myra Hindley and serial killer Joanne
Dennhey.

(419) One of the main reasons why people suspect
Jeffrey Dahmer of having killed Adam Walsh in Florida is that
eyewitnesses said the child was abducted in a blue van. Sunshine Subs,
where Dahmer worked at the time, had a blue van that employees used. 

(304)
There is a theory (purely a theory) that if Jeffrey Dahmer killed Adam
Walsh he kept quiet about this because he knew Florida had the death
penalty. This theory obviously proposes that Dahmer's bluster about
wanting to die was merely that - bluster. In reality he was fearful of
execution. 

(420) Letters that Dennis Nilsen wrote in prison
revealed that he had a particular dislike for the TV shows Coronation
Street and Big Brother. 

(421) Harold Shipman was known as Doctor Death in the British media when his shocking secret came to light. 

(422)
The Sunset Strip Killers were Doug Clark and Carol M. Bundy. This was a
rather bizarre couple that had sick fantasies. Clark is believed to
have killed six people (mostly young girls and teenagers) and Bundy
would assist in luring the victims. She procured him guns and then
lured underage girls for him. The necrophiliac Doug Clark was a very
evil and disturbing man. Bundy killed alone too when she shot and
decapitated a former lover she was in a dispute with. She was convicted
of two murders in the end. 

(423) Doug Clark defended himself
at his trial and tried to claim that Carol M. Bundy had done all the
murders alone. You can imagine how that went for him. That's right.
Doug Clark ended up on death row.

(424) People who worked with
Jeffrey Dahmer at the chocolate factory said that during his breaks he
would sit alone and read books about tropical fish. 

(425) The cellar of 25 Cromwell Street was (no surprise here) turned into a sex dungeon by Fred West. 

(426) Jeffrey Dahmer would cut a hole in the stomach of his victims and use it as a way to have sexual intercourse. 

(427) True crime bios sometimes refer to Harold Shipman now as The Doctor Jekyll of Hyde. 

(428)
In 1980, Peter Sutcliffe was arrested for driving while intoxicated but
killed twice more while awaiting the court case. He was then arrested
again for having false number plates on his vehicle. It was at this
stage - finally - that the penny began to drop for the police. They
realised that Sutcliffe had many similarities with the man described by
Ripper victims who had survived. They also deduced that Sutcliffe had a
history when it came to prostitutes. 

(429) Fred West grew up
in poor rural conditions and left school at fifteen to labour on the
farm. West could not read or write very well. When he was a teenager,
West had a bike accident which left him with a metal plate in his head.
He also picked up another head injury when he fell from some stairs.
Fred West was no genius even before the head injuries so you can
imagine what he was like after them. 

(430) Edward Kemper tends to be known The Co-ed Killer in true crime circles because most of his victims were college students. 

(431)
When he appeared as a contestant on The Dating Game, Rodney Alcala was
introduced as a successful photographer who enjoyed skydiving. 

(432)
Colin Ireland was a serial killer active in London in 1993. He killed
five gay men by pretending to be gay himself and going home with them.
The victims thought they were going to play bondage games with Ireland
but once they were restrained he would kill them and rifle through
their wallets looking for money. He often forced the victims to reveal
their bank card numbers before they died. Ireland had been in trouble
with the law from a young age and was always destined to turn out bad.
He was said to be a well organised killer who even brought a change of
clothes with him for use after each murder. Ireland was apprehended in
1993 and given life in prison. He said he targeted gay men because they
were 'easy' victims. He died in prison of natural causes in 2012. 

(433)
According to the book Dark Secrets of the Black Museum, Dennis Nilsen
did consider feeding parts of his victims to his dog (as a way to get
rid of evidence). This was not something he actually did though.

(434) Studies show that the overwhelming majority of serial killers are heterosexual.

(435)
Some serial killers often like to target runaways and homeless people.
These types of 'transient' victims are less likely to be missed or
reported as missing. 

(436) Richard Ramirez surprised people
when he appeared on television in a prison interview because he seemed
completely sane and calm and shrewdly didn't take the bait whenever the
interviewer tried to rile him or make him confess.

(437) It is possible that Harold Shipman's true kill count might be pushing 300. 

(438)
Other prison inmates were said to be scared of Richard Chase because of
the insane and brutal nature of his crimes. Even the FBI agents who had
to interview Chase were intimidated by him.

(439) Randall
Woodfield himself doesn't seem to have gone out of his way to seek any
fame for his crimes. When Sports Illustrated wrote an article about him
recently he declined to respond to them when they wrote to him asking
if he wanted to participate. 

(440) John Wayne Gacy was very
arrogant and full of bluster and bravado when he deduced that the
police had him under surveillance. He liked to invite any detectives
trailing him to breakfast. 

(441) The mother of Jeffrey Dahmer
victim Steven Hicks filed a $50 million a wrongful death suit against
Jeffrey Dahmer's parents. The legal action alleged that Dahmer's
parents were negligent and knew their son was deviant and dangerous.
The suit never had much chance of success and Dahmer's parents
obviously didn't have $50 million anyway. 

(442) Rodney Alcala
and Ted Bundy both chose to defend themselves in court and act as their
own attorney. They were predictably incompetent and eccentric in these
endeavours. 

(443) A study once found that 86% of serial
killers had violent sexual fantasies that involved mutilation and
restrained victims.

(444) Dennis Nilsen and Jeffrey Dahmer both had the same favourite tipple. They were both partial to rum & coke. 

(445)
In 2020, a man named Nick Barrit said he got chatting to Dennis Nilsen
at Waterloo Station in 1979 when he was 24 years-old and was invited
back to Nilsen's flat. Barrit, to his eternal relief, declined the
offer. Barrit said that Nilsen got 'stroppy' when the invitation was
declined. 

(446)  Marcel Petiot was the mayor of a town in
France during World War 2. He offered sanctuary to Jews fleeing the
authorities and then killed them with a shot of poison. He confessed to
60 murders when the war ended and he was arrested. 

(447) Gary
Ridgeway said he tried to bury victims as soon as he could because
otherwise he was tormented by an insatiable urge to have sex with the
corpses. 
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